ITEM 9: MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINAN-
CIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Gilat commenced operations in 1987 and shipped its initial product, a first generation OneWay
VSAT, in 1989. Since that time, we have devoted significant resources to developing and enhancing our
VSAT product lines and establishing sirategic alliances primarily with major telecommunications
companies and equipment suppliers. We have also broadened our marketing strategy to emphasize sales to
customners directly and through new distribution channels.

i In 1991, we began marketing our second generation OneWay VSAT. In 1992, we began

marketing our TwoWay VSAT with Spacenet as part of Spacenet’s Skystar Advantage VSAT service
offering, and we began marketing our TwoWay VSATs to GTECH as part of GTECH's GSAT lottery
networks. Since that time, we have experienced significant growth in orders, sales and earnings from our

- OneWay and Skystar Advantage products. Additionally, we began marketing the FaraWay VSAT in 1994,
the DialAway VSAT at the end of 1996, and the SkySurfer VSAT in 1997. The Skystar Advantage is our
Iarpest-selling product, accounting for approximately 60% of our sales revenue during 1997, and for more
than 49% of our sales revenue during 1998, During 1997 and 1998, we shipped more than 32,360 and
49,535 VSATs, respectively, along with related equipment and software,

On December 30, 1996, we acquired Gilat Florida (previously named Skydata, Inc), a company
engaged in the development, manufacturing and marketing of VSAT-based paging and broadcast '
products. The transaction was cffected through the merger of a wholly-owned subsidiary of Gilat into
Gitat Florida. The merger was accounted for as a pooling of interests. Accordingly, Gilat’s financial
b information has been restated to retroactively include the accounts and aperations of Gilat Florida prior ta
1996.

- WET

On December 31, 1998, we acquired Spacenet. The acquisition was accounted for by the
purchase method, Prior to the acquisition, Gilat and Spacenet had engaged in a strategic alliance for a
number of years, Spacenet was the largest customer of Gilat's products, with aggregate sales to Spacenel
Tepresenting approximately 28%, 34% and 45% of Gilat’s total sales in 1996, 1997 and 1998,
respectively. With the acquisition of Spacenet, we have begun to offer satellite-based network services as
well as products, For a discussion of certain continuing acquisition-related commitments, see Item 13;
“Interest of Management in Certain Transactions™

In February 1999 we completed the Offering of 5,456,750 Ordinary Shares, of which 4,711,750
Ordinary Shares were sold by Gilat and 745,000 by certain shareholders. The proceeds to Gilat, before
cxpenses but aficr the underwriters discount, were $257,826,960.

We earn revenue from sales of our satellite-based networking products and services to our
customers worldwide. The charges to customers for satellite networking products and services vary with
the number of sites, the length of the contract, the amount of satellite capacity, the types of technologies

Q o and prcl»(t.oools employed and the degree of customization or development required to implement the
.networ

Ly In the case of product sales, we generally recognize revenue when the product is shipped. In the
}" case of network services sales, Spacenct generally has two ways of recognizing revenue, depending on
¢ \ whether or not the customer takes ownership of the network equipment, In the first type of network
- w‘ N services sale, the customer purchases hardware, software, and satellite capacity and maintenance services,
o and Spacenet records revenue when the network is installed and operational (o, in cases where the

o~
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ustomer obtains its own installation services, when the equipment is shipped). In many of these cases,
E;)?cenel is paid progress payments upon signing, achicvement of certain milestones and installation. For
. ngoing maintenance, satellite capacity and support services, customers pay monthly fees, which are
z : ,,}t /recorded as service revenues. '
g : In the other type of network services sale, Spacenet procures and installs the equipment and
o \Q If software, obtains the satetlite capacity and provides network operations and monitoring for the costomer
A% [ over the contract term (generally three 1o five years). Under this type of network services sale, Spacenet
retains ownership and operation of the network, and receives a monthly service fee (and record revenue)
Vil over the term of the contract. Following our acquisition of Spacenet, we expect such networking service
. } arrangements 1o grow as a percentage of our revenue. As a result, we expect that a growing portion of the
%’ VSAT equipment we manufacture will be capitalized on our balance sheet and will result in an increase in
our capital expenditures, We also believe that the growth of our business may result in an increase of our
s inventory and receivables levels and increased working capital needs. We intend to meet such anticipated
increases in capital expenditures and working capital with cash or hand including proceeds from the
Offering. See *'—Liquidity and Capital Resources.”’

We expect to depreciate the cost of the equipment used in our network service offerings on a 5-
year basis. Cur service contracts, however, may be for periods of as little as 3 years, which may require us
to write off the unamortized cost of the equipment in the event the contract is not renewed and we are
uniable to place such equipment with other customers, We expect, hawever, that most of our custorers
will elect to renew their service contracts and that we will not be required, in most instances, to effect such
write-offs, .

Cost of revenues, for both products and services, includes the cost of system design, equipment,
satellite capacity, software customization and third party maintenance and installation. For equipment
contracts, cost of revenues is expensed as revenues are recognized. For network service contracts, cost of
revenues is expensed as revenues are recognized over the term of the contract. For maintenance contracts,
cost of revenues is expensed as the maintenance cost is incurred or over the term of the contract. Asa
tesult of the Spacenet acquisition, we incurred aggregate charges of $26.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 1998. In addition, prior to closing the Spacenct acquisition, Spacenet incurred a charge of
approximately $33.2 million to climinate obsolete and unnecessary inventory and property, plant and
equipment and 1o replace and upgrade certain legacy VSAT network equipment used by certain Spacenet
customers. We expect to replace approximately 50% of the equipment in 1999 and the remainder in the
year 2000. We will perform these replacements and upgrades, but we expect that in most cases, onr
replacement of that equipment will be accompanied by the customer’s entering into a long-term network
services contract,

We devote significant resources to research and development of all our products. We have
contractually agreed to commit $4.5 million in 1999 and $2.0 million in 2000 to development of certain
technology related to our Dial Away Telephony product. This technology will be co-owned with cur
affiliate, GVT. See Item 1: “*Description of Business—Marketing, Distribution and Strategic Alliances—

“ Strategic Alliances and Joint Ventures." Our initial research and development was funded by the Israel-

i U.S. Binational Industrial Research and Development Foundation (*“BIRD'"), but currently none of our
research and development is funded by BIRD. In Israel, a portion of our research and development
expenditures is funded by the Office of the Chief Scientist. We have also received, and expect (o confinue
to receive, grants from the research consortia to which we are a party, which are partly funded by the
Offics of the Chief Scientist. We expect, however, that the amount of funding from the Office of the Chief
Scientist will decrease due to Israeli budgetary constraints,

During 1997 and 1998, approximately 23.5% and 19.2%, respectively, of our research and
development expenditures before acquired research and development, were funded by the Office of the
Chief Scientist and the research consortia. Under the terms of the funding provided by the Office of the
Chief Scientist and BIRD, we arg required to pay royalties on sales of the products developed from the
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funded project until an amount ranging from 100% to 150% of the grants has been repaid. Grants from
the research consortia do not require the payment of royalties. Rayalties to the Office of the Chief Scientist
) and BIRD, which are included in selling, general and administrative expenses, were $371,000 during
& : 1997 and $820,000 during 1998.

Selling, general and administrative expenses also include sales and marketing costs, customer
support, accounting and administration. We expect that selling, general and administrative expenses will
increase in total amount over the next few years as sales efforts are expanded.

Substantiatly all of our production facilities in Israel are cligible for certain tax benefits. As a
result, we expect that a majority of our income for 1999 and 2000 will be tax exempt, while the balance
will be taxed at a reduced rate of 15% to 25%. See **—Effective Corporate Tax Rate."’

- We believe that accumulated Josses of Spacenet reflect certain one-time adjustments and write-
offs resulting primarily from its acquisition of AT&T Tridom. We believe that the combination of Gilat
and Spacenet will result in positive operating results due to the reduced research and development,
general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues as well as unification of product lines.
We zlso expect to derive additional benefits from the commitment of GE Americom and certain of its
affiliates to purchase a certain amount of our products through the end of 1999, As part of the merger
agreement, in the event such purchases do not amount to $37.5 million, 40% of the shortfall will be
credited against the 1999 service fees that we will owe to GE Americom under certain satellite
transponder service agreements.

The currency of the primary economic environment in which our operations are conducted is the
dollar, and as such, we use the dollar as our functional currency, Transactions and balances originally
denominated in dollars are presented at their original amounts, Gains and losses arising from non-dollar
transactions and balances are included in the determination of net income.

LR
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Results of Operations of Gilat

L ) The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the percentage of sales represented by
i certain line items from Gilat's consolidated statements of income.
. Percentage of Sales
Years Ended December 31
Adjusted Adfusted
1396 19961} 1937 1998 199812
BAlEE L.oimctrerre s cencr e erare prent b e s 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
.. Cost of sales 519 19 567 619 55.8
i Gross Profit .............. e msesstseeees Aot e reEee 2.1 421 a3 381 443
Research and development costs
Expenses inCOrted .......cueverramvercecsrsreesrsrrnionees .0 11.0 102 101 102
- Less = GANIS coooorenorrne i . 2.6 - 26 24 20 2.0
: 54 3.4 78 E2 82
Acquired research and development.................... 0.0 0.0 0.0 515 0.0
Net research and development costs.......ocecen 4 $.4 7.3 59.7 B2
Selling, general and administrative expenses.............. 188 148 19.6 18.7 18.7
Restructuring charges ....... J— 00 to (Y . 9.2 0.0
METZET EXPENSES. ..overrrrmrrrerarsissensassas 10.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
% Operating incore (loss) il 149 139 @5.5) 174
Financial income {EXPENSes) = NEt wirverevreemaemszesnscens 16 16 0.5 ©.8) 0.8)
Wnite-off of investments associated with
TESIUCTUTIAR ©vsrvenses ovaressnrrenrressssssssassasssnsaressances 0.0 0.0 0.0 {amn X
Other income - net 1.8 1.8 0.0 0.1 b.l
Income (loss) before taxes on income - 7.5 183 164 (51.9) 167
TaxXes 0N MICOME ..occooriirisssirrnsrs e s saserass st sion 0.1 0.l 0.1 02 9.2
Ir:come (loss) after taxes on income ....vere.o.. peetereraseas 7.4 182 163 (52.1) 163
Share in losses of associated cOmPanies ....uweerovrerss 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.5
Net Income (1038).....oc e eiinicctmsssntanrns st smeeseseas 4% 18.2% 16.3% (52.6)% 16.0
(1) Results of operations for year ended December 31, 1996, excluding the Gilat Florida merger expenses of
approximately $8 million.

(2) Results of operations for year ended December 31, 1998, excluding the Spacenet restructuring charges, write
offs associated with restructuring and expenses related to acquired research and development of approximately
$106.4 million.

Year Ended December 31, 1998 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1997

Sales, Our sales increased by 49.8% to approximately $155.3 million in 1998 from
approximately $103.7 million in 1997. The growth in sales was attributable primarily to 2 substantial
increase in sales of telephony products (FaraWay and DialAway) as well as increased sales of Skystar

Advantage products and Internet Protocol (*'IP"") based products. The increase in sales volume was partly
offset by downward pressure on prices in the industry,

e
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Gross Profit. Gross profit increased by 31.8% to approximately $59.2 million in 1998 from
approximately $44.% million in 1997. Our gross profit margin decreased to 38.1% in 1998 from 43.3% i
-1997 due to write-off of inventories associated with Testructuring. If such write-off had not been included,
our gross profit margin would have increased to 44.3% due primarily to a relative decrease in our cost of

sales as a result of more efficient manufacturing processes, lower cost of cormponents and a change in the
overall product mix,

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses include $80
million for the write-0ff of acquired in-process research and development associated with the Spacenet
acquisition. In-process research and development expenses arise from new product development projects
that are in various stages of completion at the acquired enterprise at the date of acquisition. Gross
rescarch and development costs without acquired rescarch and development increased by 49.0% to
approximately $15.8 million in 1998, from approximately $10.6 million in 1997 and as a percentage of
sales remained st the same level of 10.2% in 1998 as in 1997, The dollar increase in such costs in 1998
was due primarily to the hiring of additional research and development personnel, the further
development of the FaraWay, Skysurfer and SkyBlaster product lines for corporate and rural telephony
. applications, the expansion of research and development to reduce the costs and increase the functionality
o of our unidirectional and interactive VSAT product lines, including IP-based products, as well as [SAT

. and paging recciver products and to conducting generic reszarch relating to the research consortia of
which we ar¢ a member, Research and development grants from the Office of the Chief Scientist, as a
percentage of grass research and development costs, decreased to 19.2% in 1998 compared to 23.5% in
1997. Research and development costs, without acquired research and development net increased to
approximately $12.8 million in 1998 from approximately $8.1 million in 1997, and increased as a
percentage of sales to 8.2% in 1998 from 7.8% in 1997,

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses, Selling, general and admiristrative expenses
increased by 43.1% in 1998 to approximately $29.1 million from approximately $20.3 million in 1997, As
a percentage of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses decreased to 18.7% in 1998 from
approximately 19.6% in 1997, Increased expenditutes in 1958 were primarily attributable to the
expansion of our marketing and selling efforts through the hiring of personnel, increased commissions
paid to sales personnel, agents and distributors, and the opening of new offices.

Restructuring Charges and Related Expenses. As a result of the Spacenet acquisition, we
incurred restructuring charges of $14.2 million for the year ended December 3 1, 1998 mainly for
compensation to customers and other third parties, $9.5 million of inventory write-offs relating to
rationalization of product lines, which are presented in cost of sales and §2.7 miltion of write-off of
investments associated with restructuring.

Operating Income (Loss), Our operating income decreased to a loss of approximately $76.9
million in 1998 from an income of approximately $16.5 million in 1997, primarily duc to the
restructuring charges, write offs associated with restructuring and expenses related to acquired research
and development as described above. If restructuring charges, write offs associated with restructuring and
expenses related to acquired research and development had not been included, operating income would
have been $26.9 million for the year ended December 31, 1998, (representing an increase of 62.8% qver
1997) with the increase due primarily to increased sales,

Financial Income (Expenscs), Net.  Financial expenses, niet amounted approximately to §1.2
million in 1598, compared to financial income, net of approximately $0.5 million in 1997, mainly due to
payment of interest on subordinated notes while related interest earned on deposits in banks decreased due
to use of funds.

Share in Losses of Associated Companies. Share in losses of associated companies was
- approximately $0.7 million in 1998 with no parallel amount in 1997,
" T
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Net Income (Loss}, As a result of all the foregoing factors, we had a loss of approximately
$81.6 million in 1998 in comparison 1o net income of approximately $16.9 miltlion in 1997. If
restructuring charges, write offs associated with restructuring and expenses related to acquired research
and development had not been included in the Company’s results, the net income for the year ended
December 31, 1998, would have been $24.8 million (representing an increase of 46.4% over 1997).

Eamings (Loss) Per Share. Basic loss per share for 1998 was §7.38 per share as compared to
basic earnings per share of $1.56 per share in 1997, Diluted loss per share for 1998 was $7.38 per share as
compared to diluted earnings per share of $1.51 per share in 1997, If restructuring charges, write offs
associated with restructuring and expenses related to acquired research and development had not been
included in the Company’s results, basic earnings per share for 1998 would have been $2.24 per share and
dituted earnings per share for 1998 would have been $2.14 per share.

i

Year Ended December 31, 1997 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1996

A

Sales. Sales increased by 39.9% to approximately $103.7 million in 1997 from approximately
$74.1 million in 19%6. Our growth in sales was attributable primarily to a substantial increase in sales of
Skystar Advantage VSAT products as well as increased sales of OneWay VSAT products, FaraWay
VSAT products and paging receiver products and first sales of DialAway VSAT products and SkySurfer
VSAT products. The increasc in sales volume was partly offset by downward pressures on prices in the
industry,

Gross Profit  Gross profit increased by 44.0% to approximately $44.9 million in 1997 from
approximately $31.2 million in 1996, Our gross profit margin increased 1o 43,3% in 1997 from 42.1%in
1996 due primarily to a relative decrease in our cost of sales as a result of more efficient manufacturing
processes, lower cost of components and a change in the overall product mix.

S

Rescarch and Development Expenses.  Gross research and development costs increased by

30.6% to approximately $10.6 million in 1997 from approximately $3.1 million in 1996, and decreased as

a percentage of sales to 10.2% in 1997 from 11.0% in 1996. The dollar increase in such costs in 1997 was

due primarily to the hiring of additional research and development personnel, the further development of

the FaraWay and Dial Away product lines for corporate and rural telephony applications, the expansion of

research and development to reduce the costs and increase the functionality of our OneWay and TwoWay

V3AT product lines, including IP-based products, as well as of our ISAT and paging recsiver products

and to conducting generic research relating to the rescarch consortia of which we are a member. Research

and development grants from the Office of the Chief Scientist, as a percentage of gross research and

development costs, remained at the same level of 23.5% in 1997 as in 1996. The grants from the Office of

the Chief Scientist (other than frum the rescarch consortia) are subject to royalties on sales of products

- resulting from the funded project. Research and development costs, net increased to approximately $8.1
miltion in 1997 from approximately $6.2 million in 1996 but decreased as a percentage of sales to 7.8% in
1997 from 8.4% in 1996, In 1997 and 1996, we received or accrued an aggregate of approximately $3.7

- million in research and development grants from the Office of the Chief Scientist through the four

- research consortia of which we are a member. We are not required to pay royalties on sales of products

B developed with these grants.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Sclling, general and administrative expenses
increased by 45.7% to approximately $20.3 million in 1997 from approximately $13.9 million in 1996, As
a percentage of sales, selling, general and administrative expenses increased to 19.6% in 1997 from
18.8% in 1996. Increascd expenditures in 1997 were primarily attributabte to the expansion of cur
marketing efforts (including expansion of intcrnational offices), GVT operations, IP-based product-related
expenses and the addition of administrative and marketing personnel.

e
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Merger expenses associated with the Gilat Florida merger in December 1996 amounted to
approximately $8.0 million in 1996, with no merger-related expenses in 1997.

Operating Income. Primarily as a result of the absence of merger expenses, our operating
income increased by 439.9% o approximately $16.5 million in 1997 from approximately $3.1 million in
1996. Excluding merger expenses, our cperating income increased by 49.4% to approximately $16.5
million in 1997 from $11.0 million in 1996, As a percentage of sales, excluding merger expenses,
operating income increased to 15.9% in 1957 from 14.9% in 1996, This increase was primarily due to the
strong growth in sales, lower costs of sales and reduced rescarch and development costs which were partly
offset by an increasc in selling, general and administrative expenses.

Financial Income, oet. Financial income, net decreased to $0.5 million in 1997 from $1.2
miillion in 1996 mainly due to the payment of interest on convertible subordinated notes issued in 1997
(part of the proceeds of which were used for working capital, investments and property, plant and
equipment) and amortization of related issuance costs. As of December 31, 1997, we had approximately
$24.7 million invested in short-term bank deposits (including deposits with a maturity of three months or
Jess) and $40.0 million in long-term bank deposits.

Net Income (Loss). As 2 result of all the foregoing factors, our net income increased by 209.6%
to approximately $16.9 million in 1997 from approximately $5.5 million in 1996, Our net income asa
percentage of sales increased in 1997 {o 16.3% from 7.4% in 1996 due primarily to the absence of merger
expenses. Excluding merger expenses, net income increased by 25.9% from $13.5 million to $16.9
million, As a percentage of sales, net income decreased to 16.3% in 1997 from 18.2% in 1996. -

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share in 1997 were $1.56 per share as compared to
$0.51 per share in 1996. Diluted earnings per share in 1997 werc $1.51 per share as compared to $0.50
per share in 1996, If the cxpenscs associated with the Gilat Florida merger had not been included in our
results, basic earnings per share for 1996 would have been $1.24 per share and diluted earnings per share
for 1996 would have been $1.22 per share,

Variability of Quarterly Operating Results

Cur revenues and profitability may vary from quarter to quarter and in any given year, depending
primarily on the sales mix of our family of products and the mix of the various comnponents of the
products (i.e., the volume of sales of remote terminals versus hub equipment and software and add-on
enhancements), as well as salc prices and production costs. Sales of the Skystar Advantage and FaraWay
products to a customer typically consist of numerous remote terminals and rclated hob equipment and
software, which carry different sales prices and margins,

Annual and quarterly fluctuations in our results of operations may be caused by the timing and
composition of orders by our customers. Cur future reselts also may be affected by a number of factors
including our ability to continue to develop, introduce and deliver enhanced products on a timely basis
and expand into new product offerings at competitive prices, to anticipate effectively customer demands,
and 1o manage future inventory levels in line with anticipated demand. These results may also be affected
by currency exchange rate fluctuations and economic conditions in the geographical areas in which we
operate. In addition, our sales may vary significantly from quarter to quarter as a result of, among other
factors, the timing of new product announcements and releases by us and our competitors. We cannot be
sure that the growth in sales, gross profit and net income achieved by us in prior quariers will continue or
that sales, gross profit and net income in any particular quarter will not be lower than those of the
preceding quarters, including comparable quarters, Qur expense levels are based, in part, on expectations
as to future sales, If sales are below expectations, operating resulis are likely to be adversely affected. Asa
result, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not necessarily

/
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meaningful and should nat be relied vpon as indications of future performance. Due 1o all of the foregoing
factors, it is likely that in some future quarters our sales or operating results will be below the expectations

. of public market analysts or investors. In such event, the market price of our Ordinary Shares would likely
: be materially adversely affected.

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, our financing requirements have been met primarily through cash generated by

operations, funds generated by private equily investments in 1990 and 1991, our public offerings in 1993

(approximately $24.5 million) and 1995 {(approximately $37.5 million), our issuance of convertible

subordinated notes in 1997 (approximately $71.8 million) and our public offering in 1999 (approximately

$254 8 million), as well as funding from the Office of the Chief Scientist and BIRD. In addition, we also

financed our operations through borrowings under available credit facilities as discussed below, We intend
i to meet our anticipated increases in capital expenditures and working capital requiretnents with cash-on-
i hand and proceeds from the Offering.

We have used available funds primarily for working capital. In 1998, funds were used to increase
inventories by approximately $1.5 miilion and trade receivables by approximately $35.2 million. The
increase in inventories in 1998 represented increased component purchases to meet higher production
levels and an increase in work-in-process and finished products, primarily related 1o customer orders
planned for shipment eacly in the following quarter. Funds were alse used to increase investment in
companies by approximately $14.2 million (including $8.5 million in loans to an associated company and
$2.7 million from deconsolidation of the investment in GVT) and property, plant and equipment by
i approximately $15.8 million in 1998. This increase in property, plant and equipment represents a portion
of our investment in our new facility in Petah Tikva, Israel, as well as additional purchases of computer
: and electronic equipment and office furniture and equipment, Approximately $3.9 million was provided

by an increase in trade payables, approximately $24.0 million was provided by a decrease in other
receivables and an increase in accrued expenses, approximately $5.7 million was used to decrease other
payables, and appreximately $20.4 million was provided by short term bank credit.

As of December 31, 1998, we had approximately $7.6 million in cash, cash equivalents and
short-term bank deposits and approximately 40.7 million of long-term bank deposits, compared to .
approximately $26.1 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits and approximately
40.0 million of long-term bank deposits as of December 3%, 1997, Qur ratio of shareholders’ equity to
total assets as of December 31, 1998, increased to 53.7% from 51.1% as of December 31, 1997.

As of December 31, 1998, we had a bank line of credit of approximately $20 million with Israel
I Discount Bank Ltd. (an affiliate of one of our major shareholders), under which approximately $11.4
‘ ' million of short-term debt was cutstanding as of that date, We atso had a bank line of credit of
approximately $26.5 million with Bank Leumi Le Israel B.M., under which approximately $11.6 million
of short-term debt was outstanding as of December 31, 1998, The short-term bank credits are secured by a
. negative pledge prohibiting us from selling or otherwise transferring any assets except in the ordinary
v course of business, from placing a lien on our assels without the bank's consent and from declaring
dividends to our shareholders.

In 1997, funds were used to increase inventories by approximately £14.5 million, trade
receivables by approximately $12.9 million, and other receivables by approximately $4.1 million. The
increase in inventeries in 1997 represented increased component purchases to meet higher production
levels and an increase in work-in-process and finished products, primarily related to customer orders
planned for shipment early in the following quarter. Funds were also used to increas= investment in
companies by approximately $3.5 million and property, plant and equipment by approximately $25.9
million. This increase in property, plant and equipment in 1997 represents a portion of our investment in
our new facility in Petah Tilova, Israel, as well as additional purchases of computer and electronic
equipment and office furniture and-equipment. Approximately $1.7 miflion was provided by an increase
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in trade and other payables and approximately $2.3 million was provided by an increase in accrued
expenses,

The convertible subordinated notes that we issued in May 1997 represent unsecured general
obligations, and are subordinate in right of payment o certain other of our obligations and are convertible
into Ordinary Shares. The notes bear interest at an annual rate of 6,5% and will mature on Juns 1, 2004,
unless redeemed earlier at our option, repurchased by us at the option of the holder upon the occurrence of
certain designated events or converied into Ordinary Shares at the option of the holder. The notes do not
impose any financial covenants or any restrictions on the payment of dividends, the repurchase of
sccurities or the incurrence of scnior indebtedness or other indebtedness. See Note 8 of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

We expect that the principal uses of our cash during 1999 will be for working capital, capital
expenditures and expenses related to the integration of Spacenet, In additien, our uses of cash will include
= the expansion of our manufacturing, testing, quality control, delivery and service capabilities in Israel,
expansion of our internationzal marketing activities, research and development, and additional capital
investment for our service-based offerings.

Acquisition of Spacenet

On December 31, 1998, we completed the acquisition of Spacenet, a company engaged in
providing VSAT-based network services and prior to the acquisition, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GE
Americorn. The transaction was completed pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger entered into on
@ Scptember 25, 1998, between Gilat, GE Americom, and Spacenet. We acquired Spacenet from GE
: Americom in exchange for 5 million shares of newly issued Gilat ordinary shares. The acquisition was
structured as a merger intended to qualify as a ““tax-free”” reorganization. See Item 13: “'Interest of — - 7%
Management in Certain Transactions—Merger-Related Agreements—The Tax Matters Agreement."’

Prior to the acquisition, Spacenct was the single largest customer for our equipment. Spacenet
purchased our VSAT products in order to incorporate them into Spacenet’s VSAT-based network service
offerings. Aggregate sales to Spacenet represented approximately 28%, 34% and 45% of Gilat’s total salcs
in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

The acquisition of Spacenet has enabled Gilat to expand from primarily manufacturing and
selling VSAT equipment to becoming 2 provider of complete end-to-end telecommunications and data
networking solutions based on VSAT satellite earth stations. We believe that this acquisition greatly
enhances our ability to develop and offer new products and services and to maiatain our position as one of
the Ieaders in the VSAT industry, especially sinee our major competitor is 2lso a provider of both
equipment and services. The Spacenet acquisition has added a significant customer base in the United
States, Europe, Asia and South America and access to Spacenet’s other relationships in the global VSAT
industry, ’ :

% As part of the acquisition, we entered into several significant agreements with GE. Sglg\mﬂgz ) F 78
“Interest of Management in Certain Transactions—Merger-Related Agreements.” In addition, a&'p
the Spacenet acquisition, we acquired certain advanced VSAT technology developed under the name
Turbosat. We plan to utilize the Turbosat technology in a new preduct and market this technology under
our own name. See Ilem 1: “Description of Business - Products and Services - - New Product Under
Development.”
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‘In-Process Research and Develapment,

On December 31, 1998, we completed the purchase of Spacenet for $190 million, A major value-
. enhancing asset acquired in the Spacenet acquisition was the technology developed by Spacenet as part of
x its planned new Turbosat product. At that time, we planned to utilize the Turbosat technology in a new
product.

As pari of the process of analyzing the purchase of Spacenet, management made a decision to
buy technology that had not yet been commercialized rather than develop the technology internally. Our
management based this decision on factors such as the amount of time it would take to bring the
technology to market and the quality of the Spacenet research and development effort. We also
considered our own resource allocation and our progress on comparable technology. Our management
expects to use the same decision process in the future. The allocation to in-process research and

& development of $80 million represents the estimated fair value using the methodology described under
“Valuation Assumptions” below.

At the time of the acquisition, the Turbosat technology, though not yet fully developed, was
= intended to increase throughput, expand product features to serve additional applications and rednce cost.
The technology was also expected to accommodate changes in customer’s performance and application
requirements thraugh its ability to be upgraded to a satellite multimedia platform or a terrestrial router.
One of the most important features of the acquired Turbosat technology is that it enables 2 wide range of
flexdbility through the application of spread specirum and CDMA technologies as the satellite acoess
method. The potential integration of CDMA technology into our new VSAT platform remains one of the
serious hurdles to successfully completing the development of the Turbosat technology. Other
distinguishing features are its advanced level capability for data, audio and video broadcasting.

BOSE

At the time of the acquisition and now, we believe the Turbosat technelogy will be targeted at a
= new customer base for us which has very different requirements than the market served by Gilat’s
existing Skystar Advantage — the small home office market and a portion of the market previously
captured by frame relay technology,

Substantial progress had been made related to the research and development of Turbosat
technology at the acquisition date, The major achievements related to this product at the time included
functional and production ready VSAT ODU, VSAT IDVU ¢ase, IDU motherboard, hub modulator,
UNICOM cards and NMS and IP protocol suites. The subset of software features had been deliversd and
was operating in beta testing, The completed hardware and sofiware components comprise 2 large part of
the Turbosat system, We estimated that between 70% and 75% of the final Turbosat technology was

o complete as of the acquisition closing date. The primary remaining risks at the acquisition date were

: divided between completion of outstanding hardware, stress testing of software and full integration,
including of the CDMA technology. Of the hardware, only two major components were incomplete, the
hub demodulator and the modern ASIC for the remote modetn card.

- " At the time of the acquisition, we expected the full software feature to be complets in late first

- quarter 1999 and a fully integrated Turbosal to be ready for release by June 1999, 2t which time we
expected to begin generating economic benefits from the value of the completed development associated
with the in-process research and development. At that time, we also expected that if successfully
completed, the new product incorporating the Turbosat feature sat would be marketed by us under the
Skystar Advantage trademark while maintaining backward compatibility.

Since the acquisition, the research and development of Turbosat technology bas progressed, with
most of Turbosat’s improved functionality and features compieted and the technology integrated {other
than CDMA) into a new product platform, Skystar Advantage TG (Turbo Generation), which is being
implemented for the USPS network.

-

-
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{ {.,/ Prior to the acquisition, Spacenet had incurred approximately $20 million in Turbosat

L3

,.,»-L e® *‘devclopmcnt—rclatcd costs. At the acquisition date, costs to complete the research and development efforts

50w related to Turbosat were expected to be approximately $6 million, which continues to be management'’s
& " o do  estimate
T 4 & w™ n ,
T 7'{1 ! Management estimates that the remaining Turbosat technology development wilt be completed
D L during the fourth quarter of 1999, excluding integration of the CDMA technology, for which we are
L directing research and development activitics aver the next 12 months.

In developing our financial projections of future revenues and costs, we inclnded the positive
impact of the introduction of the new Skystar Advantage with Turbosat feature set on our future earnings
estimates and oor capability to expand in new markets, including the small home office market, We are
reasonably confident in the successful completion of the development of the Turbosat technology. See

" “Risk Factors — Risks associated with new product research and development in process at Spacenet.”

Valuation Assumptions

We estimated the fair value of in-process research and development using an income approach.
This involved estimating the present value of the estimated aficr-tax cash flows expected 1o be generated
by the purchaseq in-process research and development, using risk adjusted discount rates and revenue
forecasts as appropriate. Product revenues attributable to the Turbosat technology were estimated 1o be
$118 million in 1999 and to grow thereafler through the cnd of the product’s life in 2005 as new product
technologies are expected to be introduced by us. Product revenue growth was expected to decrease
gradually from 42% in 2001 to 15% in 2003 and 6.9% in 2005, Service revenues and lease payments
were expected to continue at a declining rate through the year 2011. Revenues were estimated based on
relevant market size and growth factors, expected industry trends, individual product sales cycles,
maintenance and service life and the estimate life of the product’s underlying technology. Product costs
inchaded hardware, installation, space segment fees, and maintenance costs. Estimated operating
expenses included cost of goods sold, selling, general and administrative expenses and enginecring
expenses. The estimates were consistent with historical pricing, margins and expense levels for our other
products,

-

The selection of the discount rate was based on consideration of a weighted average cost of
capital, as well as other factors including the technology's nseful life, profitability Yevel, uncerntainty of
advances, and stage of completion. A risk adjusted discount rate of 40% was utilized to discount projected
cash flows.

- . Only a proportional value consistent with the technology's already completed development effort

) was considered in-process research and development for financial reporting purposes. Value associated
with the technology’s remaining development effort was not included in the valuation. We further
betieved that the estimated in process research and development amount determined represented fair valys
and did not exceed the amount a third party would pay for the project.

We allocated anticipated cash flows from an in-process research and development project to
reflect contributions of the core infrastructure technology. At the date of acquisition, the Turbosat
technology for which a value had been assigned to in-process research and development efforts had not yet
reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future uses. Accordingly, the value allocated to
this R&D project was capitalized and immediately expensed at acquisition. If the project is not wholly
successful or not fully completed in 2 timely fashion, management's product pricing and growth rates may
not be achieved and we would not realize the financial benefits expected from the project at the time of the
acquisition,

&
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Based on an independent appraiser’s report obtained by management, on December 31, 1998, we
recorded a charge of $80 million for the write-off of acquired in-process research and development
associated with the Spacenct acquisition. In-process research and development expenses arise from new
product development projects that arc in various stages of completion at the acquired enterprise at the date
of acquisition. Se¢ “Risk Factors - Potential chanpe in allocation of purchase price of Spacenet
acquisition.”

Year 2000 and Eure Comptiance Risk

The Year 2000 issue arises from computer programs using two digits rather than four to define
the applicable year. Date-sensitive software may recognize a date using *'60"" as the year 1900 rather than
the year 2000, This could result in system failures or miscalculations causing disruptions of operations,
inchyding, among others, a temporary inability to process transactions, send invoices, or engage in similar
= norrual business activities. Euro compliance issues arise from the upcomting conversion of many European
monetary systems 10 the use of the euro as the national currency rather than their current currency. We

- have been identifying corrections to software that need to be made to avoid a Year 2000 or euro

v compliance problem. We are also working with our vendors to ensure that their products become Year
2000 and enro compliant, We expect to correct all of our internal Year 2000 compliance issues prior to
January 1, 2000 and to ensure euro compliance in a timely manner, but it is presently not known whether
our vendors will be fully compliant at that stage. Any failure by us or our vendors to resolve any Year
2000 or euro compliance issues an a timely basis could have a material impact on our dperations. Costs of

Year 2000 compliance, while significant, are not expected to be material, although charges by vendors or

w third party service providers for Year 2000 and euro compliance matters cannot custently be estimated. In

. accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force Opinion No. 96-14 of the Financial Accounting Standards
Board of the United States, ** Accounting for the Costs of Modifying Computer Software for the Year
2000, we will expense all costs as incurred.

S

Impact of Inflation and Currency Fluctuations

Almost all of our sales are made in dollars and most of our expenses are in dollars and NIS. The
dollar cost of our operations in Israel is influenced by the extent to which any increase in the rate of
inflation in Israet is not offset (or is offset on a lagging basis) by a devaluation of the NIS in relation to the
dollar, The influence on the dollar cost of our operations in Israel relates primarily to the cost of salaries
in Israel, which are paid in NIS and constitute a substantial portion of our expenses in NIS. In the past
several years, the inflation rate in Israel has exceeded the rate of devaluation of the NIS against the dollar,
although during 1997 and 1998 the rate of devaluation of the NIS against the dollar exceeded the inflation
rate in Israel. For example, during 1995 and 1996, the rate of inflation in Isracl was 8.1% and 10.6%,
respectively, while the NIS was devalued against the dollar by 3.9% and 3,7%, respectively. Aithough this
trend was reversed during 1997 and 1998 {when the rate of inflation was 7.0% and 8.6% respectively and
the rate of devaluation was 8.8% and 17.6% respectively), there can be no assurance that this reversal will
continue. If future inflation in Isracl exceeds the devaluation of the NIS against the dollar or if the timing
of such devaluation lags behind increases in inflation in Israel, we may be materially adversely affected.

In addition, we pay for the purchase of certain components of our products in Japanese yen. Asa
result, an increase in the value of the Japanese yen in comparison to the dollar could increase the cost of
sales. We bave entered into 2 hedging agreement with our principal Japanese supplier in an effort to
reduce the effects of fluctuations in the exchange rate, although there can be no assurance that such
agreement will effectively hedge our Japanese yen exposure,
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Effective Corporate Tax Rate

Israeli companies are generally subject to income tax at the rate of 36% of taxable income,

However, substantially all of our production facilities in Israel have been granted Approved Enterprise
status under the Law for Encouragement of Capital Investments, 1959, and consequently are eligible for
certain tax benefits for the first several years in which they generate taxable income, We currently have
cight Approved Enterprises, and have applied for approval for a ninth enterprise. Income derived from the
cight Approved Enterprises is entitled to tax benefits for periods of 7 years (in the case of two of the
enierprises) or 10 years (for the remaining six enterprises), from the first year in which we generats
income from the respective Approved Enterprise, on the basis of the nature of the incentives selected by
us. The period of reduced tax for the ninth enterprise, if approved, is expected to be 10 years, although the
terms of the approval may provide for a different perjod. The main tax benefits are a tax exemption for
two or four years and a reduced tax rate of 15% to 25% for the remainder of the benefits period. As a

P result of these programs, our effective corporate tax rate was 0% in 1993, 2.1% in 1994, 0% in 1995,

1.5%in 1996, 0.8% in 1997 and in 1998 we had 2 loss due to restrueturing charges, write offs associated
with restructuring and expenses refated 1o acquired research and development. We anticipate that a
majority of our income for 1999 will be tax-exempt, while the balance will be taxed at a reduced rate of

i 15% to 25%.

ITEM 9A: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT
MARKET RISK ’

S

General

The currency of our primary economic environment is the dollar. However, we have balances and
activities in other currencies. We are therefore exposed to market risks arising from changes in currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

From time to time, we use financial instraments and derivatives in order to limit our exposure to
risks arising from changes in exchange rates between the dollar and the NIS and other currencies and in
interest rates. However, we cannot assure that the use of such instruments will eliminate cur exposure to
additional exchange rate or interest rates risks.

Exchange Rate Risk Management

- Our functional corrency and that of most of our subsidiarics is the dollar. Accordingly, we
atternpt to protect ourselves against exposure arising from the difference between assets and liabilities in
each currency other than the dollar ("Balance Sheet Exposure™). We strive to limit our exposure through
“patural” hedging, i.e., attempting to maintain similar levels of assets and liabilities in any given
currency, to the extent possible. However, this methad of *natural” hedging is not always achievable.

The table below details the balance of the Balance Sheet Exposure by currency:

1999

Liabilities — short term (in thousands)

Variable rate debt:

In dollars $9,700

Average interest rate 5.37-5.537%
In NIS $12,670
* Aversge interest rate 14.2-14.4%

-~
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Interest Rate Risk Management

} Due to the existence of assets and liabilities with different interest rates and maturity dates, we
“ . are exposed to changes in intercst rates.

The tzble below details the balance of the Batance Shest Exposure by currency and interest tates:

1999 2000 2001 Maturity
Unknovwn

Assets: (in thousands)
Short term: $1,000
Fixed rate
Interest rate 0%

Long term: $40,701 $7.500
Fixed rate
Interest rate 5.76-6.67% 0%

Liabilities:

1) long-term
fixed rate debt-
In dollars $75,000

= Interest rate 6.5%

2) short~-term :

variable rate debt- ‘
In dollars $9,700
average interest rate 5.37-5.537%

In NIS $12,670
average interest rate 14.2-14.4%
Interest rate option(*) 320,000

{*) In May, 1997 we bought a three year call option to protect us in the event the Libor interest rate
exceeds 7.5%. Upon the exercising of the option, we will be entitled to the difference between the then
Libor interest rate and 7.5%, multiplied by $20,000,000.

In 1998, we made the following loans to an associated company:

“ (i} Shori-term loan in the amount of $1,000,000 which does not bear interest. The alternative
; interest rate is 5% per annum.

by (ii) Long-term loan in the amount of §7,500,000 which was given in conjunction with our
: investment in that associated companty. The loan docs not bear interest and is without a maturity date,

In February 1999, the Company raised net proceeds of approximately $255 million in the -
Offering. A portion of the proceeds was used for working capital and other purposss. The remaining
portion of the proceeds was invested in short- and long-term (up to two years) dollar deposits, so the
Company has no currency or interest exposure from these deposits,
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ITEM 10: DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF REGISTRANT

Directors and Executive Officers

Our directors and executive officers and key executives of cur subsidiaries as of June 16, 1999 are

as follows:
Name Are Fosition
Yoel Gat{1}(2) ..ccocrnveverrncrerns 47 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive
Officer
Amiram Levinberg(1)(2)....... 43 President, Chief Operating Officer and Director
Shlomo Tirosh(3).......cccceeenve. 53 Director
Dov Tadmor(1}(3)(4) ............ 69 Director
John Connelly(4)......covecoruune 55 Director
Dr. Gideon Kaplan................ 43 VicePresident, Technology
. Yoav Leibovitch.......cc.ocoeernre. 41 Vice President, Finance and Administration and Chiefl
k Financial Officer
Erez Antebi.......coevrvvreeeerenene 39 Vice President, Marketing and General Manager for Asia, Anstralia and Africa
Joann R. Blasberg ................. 47 Vice President and General Counsel
Alan FIeec.......occevvvresvrrnranres 51 Chief Executive Officer and President, Gilat Florida
Sheldon RevKin.......c..viveeeies 55 President and Chief Operating Officer, Spacenct
David R. Shiff........ccorereer. 41 Vice President, Sales and Marketing, Spacenet

{1} Member of the Stock Option Commitiee,

{2) Member of the Compensation Committee.

(3) Member of the Audit Committee.

(4) Mr. Tadmor is a nominee of DICFM and PEC and Mr. Connelly is a nominee of GE Americom,
pursuant to a voting agreement among certain of the principal sharehotders of Gilat concerning the
election of directors.

Yoel Gat is a co-founder of Gilat and has been its Chief Executive Officer and a Director since
Gilat’s inception and since July 1995 has served as the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Gatis a
member of the Stock Option and Compensation Committees of the Board. Until July 1995, Mr. Gat also
served as the President of Gilat, From 1974 to 1987, Mr. Gat served in the Israel Defense Forces (*'IDF™).
In his last position in service, Mr. Gat was a senior electronics engineer in the Israel Ministry of Defense
(““IMOD**}, Mr, Gat is a two-time winner of the Israel Defense Award (1979 and 1988}, Israel’s most
prestigions research and development award, Mr. Gat is also Chairman of the Board of Directors of
KSAT, in which Gilat holds a minotity interest. Mr. Gat also scrves as the Chairman of the MOST
Consortivm and is z director of ILAN-GAT Engincering Ltd., a civil contracting company whose shares
are publicly traded on the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange and of which members of his family are major
. shareholders. Mr. Gat is also a director of Gilat Communications Lid. (**Gilat Communications™), which
is a provider of satellite-based communications services and interactive distance leaming systems
= worldwide, and in which certain of the principal shareholders are principal shareholders of Gilat. Mr. Gat
received a bachelor of science degree in electrical engineering and electronics from the Technion—Israel
Institute of Technology and a masters degree in management science from the Recanati Graduate School
of Business Administration of Tel Aviv University, where he concentrated on information systems.

Amiram Levinberg is a co-founder of Gilal and has been a Director and Chief Operating Officer
since inception, and since July 1995 has served as President. Mr. Levinberg is a member of the Stock
Option and Compensation Committees of the Board. Until July 1995, he served as Vice President of
Engineering. In this capacity, he supervised the development of Gilat’s OneWay and Skystar Advantage

.
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VSATs. Mr. Levinberg is also a director of Gilat Communications, From 1977 to 1987, Mr. Levinberg
served in a research and development unit of the IDF, where he managed a large research and
development project. He was awarded the Israel Defense Award in 1988. Mr. Levinberg is a graduate of
the Technion, with a bachelor of science degree in clectrical engineering and electronics and masters of
science degree in digital communications. :

Shiomo Tirosh is a co-founder of Gilat and has been a member of the Board of Directors since

inception, serving a5 Chairman of the Board of Directors until July 1995, Mz, Tirosh is a member of the
Audit Committes of the Board. Since July 1990, Mr, Tirosh has served as Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer and President of Gilat Communications. From 1964 to 1987, Mr. Tirosh served in the
IDF, where he held a varicty of professional and field command positions (retiring with the rank of
colonel). From 1980 to 1985, he headed 2 large research and development wnit, and from 1985 to 1987, he

] managed a large-scale technology project for the IMOD. In 1988, he received the Israel Defense Award.

= Mr. Tirosh halds a bachelor of arts degree (summa curn lande) in economics from Bar-Itan University in

. Ramat Gan.

Dov Tadmor has been a Director of Gilat since July 1994 and is a member of the Audit and Stock
Option Commitiees of the Board. Mr. Tadmor has served as Managing Director of DIC and DICFM from
1985 until March 1999. Mr. Tadmor is Chairman of the Boards of Directors of Scitex Corporation Lid.
and a member of the Boards of Directors of IDBH, IDBD, Cellcom (Israel) Ltd., NICE Systems Ltd. and
El-Yam Ships Ltd. Mr. Tadmor holds a bachelor of law degree from the School of Law and Econornics in
Tel Aviv.

John Connelly was appointed a Director in January 1999. Since 1992, Mr. Connelly has served
g5 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of GE Americom. Mr. Connelly joined the General Electric
Company in 1967, and has served in a number of capacities at General Electric and its affiliates since that
. time. Mr. Connelly holds a bachelor of science degree form Niagara University and a masters in business
“ administration from St. John's University.

R

Gideon Kaplan joined Gilat in 1989 as Vice President of Technology. From late 1987 to 1989,
Dr. Kaplan was employed as a research engineer with QUALCOMM, Inc., a mobile satellite
communications and cellular radio company. From 1978 {0 1987, Dr. Kaplan served in a research 2nd
development unit of the IDF and received the Israel Defense Award in 1984, Dr. Kaplan received a
bachelor of science degree in electrical engineering, a master of science degree and doctorate in electrical
engineering from the Technion.

Yoav Leibovitch joined Gilat in early 1991 as Vice President of Finance and Administration and
= Chief Financial Officer. Since joining Gilat, Mr. Leibovitch has also served as acting Chief Financial
’ Officer of Gilat Inc. He is a director of GVT. From 1989 to 1990, Mr. Leiboviteh worked in the United
States at Doubleday Books and Music Clubs as special advisor for new business development., From 1985
to 1989, he was the Chief Financial Officer of a partnership among Bertelsmann, A.G., a large German
w media and communication company; Clal Corporation, a major Israeli industrial holding company; and
- Yediot Aharonot, an Ismeli daily newspaper. Mr. Leibovitch is & graduate of the Hebrew University of
Jerusalem with a bachelor of arts degree in economics and accounting, and a masters degree in business
administration specializing in finance and banking. Mr, Lejbovitch is a Certified Public Accountant in
Isracl.

Erer Antebi currently serves as Gilat’s Vice President, Marketing and General Manager for Asia,
Australia and Africa. From September 1994 until the beginning of 1998, he served as Vice President and
General Manager of Gilat Inc. Mr. Antebi joined Gilat in May 1991 as product manager for the Skystar
Advantage VSAT product. From August 1993 until August 1994, he served as Vice President
Engineering and Program Management of Gilat Inc. Prior to joining Gilat, Mr. Antebi worked for a
private importing business from 1989 to 1991, after having served as marketing manager for high
frequency radio communications for Tadiran Limited, a defense electronics and telecommunications
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company, from 1987 to 1989 and as a radar systems development engineer at Rafac), the research and
development and manufacturing arm of the IDF, from 1981 to 1987. Mr. Antebi reckived a bachelor of
science degree and master of science degree in electrical engineering from the Technion,

Joarm R Blasberg joined Gilat in August 1995 as Vice President and General Counsel. Prior to

Joining Gilat, Ms, Blasberpg was a partner in the firm of Kleinhendler & Halevy, Israeli couasel to Gilat,

having been associated with that firm from May 1987. Prior to immigrating to Israel in December 1986,

M. Blasberg was an associate with the firms of Siff & Rosen from May 1984 and Kronish Leib Weiner &

Hellman from August 1982 until May 1984, Ms. Blasberg served as Principal Law Clerk to Chief Judge

Lawrence H. Cooke of the New York State Court of Appeals from 1979 to August 1982, Ms. Blasberg

received a law degree in 1979 from Brooklyn Law School (summa cum laude) and received a bachelors

degree in sociology from Queens College.

= .Alan Freece joined Gilat Florida in July 1997 a5 President and became Chief Exccutive Officer

of that company in January 1998. Prior to joining Gilat Florida, Mr, Freece was Vice President of

Marketing and Business Development at Spacenct from 1995 to 1997, From 1984 to 1994, Mr. Freece

N served in several capacities, including Vice President of Marketing and Sales and President for Scientific

- Atlanta Private Networks VSAT Division. From 1973 to 1984, he was with Harris's Sateltite
Communications Division. Mr. Freece received a bachelor of science degree in electrical engineering from
the University of Illinois and a masters degree in business administration from the University of Florida,

Sheldon (Shelly) Revkin joined Spacenet in January 1999, as President and Chief Operating
Officer, Prior to jolning Spacenet, Mr. Revkin was Senior Vice President and General Manager of the
Wireless Networks Division of Hughes Network Systems, Inc, (HNS). Mr. Revkin joined HNS in 1978
and held several executive-level marketing, sales and operations positions within the company. Revkin
holds a bachelor of science degree in électrical engineering from Pratt Institute in New York City, a
master of science degree in electrical engineering from Polytech University in Brooklyn, New York, and a
master of business administration degree in finance and marketing from Lynchburg College in
Lynchburg, VA Revkin is a member of Eta Kappa Nu, Tau Beta Pi, and the [nstitute of Electrical and
Electronics Engincering (IEEE).

S

David R. Shiff joined Spacenet in December 1998, as Vice Presideat of Sales and Marketing.
Prior to joining Spacenct, Mr. Shiff spent 15 ycars with Hughes Network Systems, a division of Hughes
Electronics. For the last two years he served as Assistant Vice President, North American Sales, for the
Satellite Networks Divisions of HNS, Mr. Shiff holds a degree in mechanical engineering from the
University of Wisconsin.

Terms of Directors

Directors arc elected at the annual sharcholders meeting 1o serve until the next annual meeting of
the shareholders and until their respective successors are elected and qualified. Qur Articles of
Association provide that the directors may appoint additional directors (whether 1o fill 2 vacancy or to
expand the Board). Our Articles of Association provide that the Board may delegate all of its powers to
committees of the Board as it deems appropriate, subject 10 the provisions of the Israeli Companies
Ordinance (New Version) 1983, as amended (the **Companies Ordinance’"). Officers of Gilat serve at the
discretion of the Board or unitil their successors are appointed.

Alternate Directors

Our Articles of Association provide that a director may appoint, by written notice to Gilat, any
individual (whether or not such person is then a member of the Board) to serve as an aliernate director,
subject to the consent of the Board if the alternate is not then a member of the Board. Any alternate

director shall have all of the rights and obligations of the director appointing him or her, except the power
10 appoint an alternate (unless othétwise specifically provided for in the appointment of such alternate),
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The alternate director may not act at any meeting at which the director appointing him or her is present.
Such alternate may act as the altemate for several directors and have the corresponding number of votes.
: “Unless the time period or scope of any such appointment is limited by the appointing director, such
£ . appointment is effective for all purposes and for an indefinite time, but will expire upon the expiration of
- the appointing director’s term. Currently, no alternate directors have been appointed.

" Board Compensation

By resolution of the Board and the sharcholders adopted in 1996, directors who are not executive
officers receive annual compensation of $10,000 for their services on the Board or any committee thereof

beginning in 1996. All of the non-management directors are reimbursed for their expenses for each Board
meeting attended.

[
IR

Pursuant to the listing requirements of the Nasdaq National Market, Gilat is required to have at
least two independent directors on our Board of Directors and to establish an audit commilttee, al least a
majority of whose members are independent of management. Messrs. Tadmor and Tirosh, both of whom
we believe are independent of management, currently serve on the Audit Committee of the Board,

i

Approval of Certain Transactions under the Companics Ordinance; Andit Committer

We are subject to the provisions of the Israeli Companies Ordinance. The Companies Qrdinance
codifies the duty of care and fiduciary duties which an Office Holder has to the company. An *‘Office
Holder"" is defined in the Companies Ordinance as a director, managing director, chief business manager,
executive vice president, vice president, other manager directly subordinate to the managing director and
any other person assuming the responsibilities of any of the foregoing positions without regard to such
person’s title. The Office Holders of Gilat currently include each of the persons described above under
""Directors and Executive Officers.”” Under the Companies Ordinance, all arrangements as to
compensation of Office Holders who are not directors require the approval of the company's Board.
Armangements as to compensation for Office Holders who are directors require the approval of the Audit
Committee and the Board of Directors and if the Office Holders are also shareholders, the approval of the
sharcholders at a general meeting,

YT

The Companies Ordinance requires that certain transactions, actions and arrangements be
approved as provided for in a company’s Articles of Association and/or by an andit committee of the
company’s board, a majority of whose members do not individuatly hold more than 5% of the company's
shares and none of whom are employees of the Company, as well as by the board itself. We have appeinted
the Audit Committee, which we believe complies with the criteria set forth in the Companies Ordinance,
Certain transactions also require, in addition to Audit Committee and Board approval, approval by our
sharcholders at a general meeting.

1.

The disclosure provisions of the Companies Ordinance require that an Office Holder promptly

disclose any direct or indirect personal interest that he or his affiliates nay have, and all related material
it information known to him, in connection with any existing or proposed transaction by the company. In
i addition, if the transaction is an extraordinary transaction {as defined in the Companies Ordinance), the
Office Holder also must disclose any personal interest held by certain of the Office Holder's relatives. If
the Office Holder complies with such disclosure requirements, the company may approve the transaction
in accordance with the provisions of its Articles of Association, If the transaction is with a third party in
which the Office Holder has a personal interest, the approval must confirm that the Office Holder acted in
good faith and the transaction is not adverse to the company’s interest. In addition, if the transaction is an
cxtraordinary transaction, then in addition to any approval required by the Articles of Association, it also
must be approved by the company's audit committee, its board and, in certain circumstances, the
shareholders of the company at a general meeting. The vote of 2 majority of the disinterested directors of
i~ the audit committee and the board participating in a duly convened meeling is required for approval of
. such matters. -

3
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Office Holders who have a personal interest in a matter which is considered at a meeting of the
board or the audit committee may not be present at such meeting, may not participate in the discussions
and may not vote on any such maer,

For information concerning the direct and indirect personal interests of certain of our Office
Holders and principat sharcholders in certain transactions, see Item 13: “Interest of Management in
- Certain Transactions.”

Indemnification

Our Articles of Association include a provision 1o the effect that, to the extent permitted by the
Companies Ordinance, we may (i) procure insurance for or indemnify any Office Holder, provided that
the procurement of any such insurance or provision of any such indemnification, as the case may be, is
approved by the Audit Committee and otherwise as required by law and (if) procure insurance for or
indemnify any persan who is not an Office Holder, including, without limitation, any employee, agent,
- consultant or contractor who is not an Office Holder. We have obtained directors® and officers’ liability
insurance covering our officers and directors and those of our subsidiaries for certain ¢laims.

ITEM 11: COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

P Compensation of Directors and Officers

The following table sets forth the aggregate compensation paid to or accrued on behalf of all of
our directors and officers as a group for the year ended December 31, 1998:

Salarfey, Fees, THreclory® Fees, Pension, Retirement
Co slons and uses and Similar Benefits
All directors and officers as a group (17 persons®). $3,390,712 5795494

*including one person who ceased being &n officer in 1998, one person who ceased being a director in 1999 and one
persan who ceased being an officer in 1999

Through June 16, 1999, we had granied options under the Stock Option Plans to our then officers
and directors for a total of 1,035,100 Ordinary Shares, of which 104,012 have been exercised. See Item
12: "Options to Purchase Securities from Registrant or Subsidiaries.”

By Board and shareholder action in July and August 1994, respectively, we anthorized future
bonuses to four of our executive officers, two of whom are also directors. Such bonuses shall be paid as
follows: if our consolidated operating income (as defined in the resolution of the Board and the
sharcholders) in any year through December 31, 1999 is greater than $10 million, we will pay such
officers an aggregate onc-time bonus in NIS equal to $510,000, linked 1o the Isracli CPI (plus an amount
equal to any taxes payable an such benus), The bonus will be divided among them as set forth in
resolutions of the Board and the shareholders meeting. The bonus, which was to be paid as soon as
practicable after the end of the year in which the operating income exceeded $10 million, was paid in
1998, By Board and shareholder action in Junc and Angust 1995, the Board was also authorized to grant
annual bonuses to two officers who are also directors. In February 1997, the Board, subject to the approval
of the shareholders at the next annual general meeting, authorized an amendment to the annual bonus
ptovision, to exclude merger and acquisition costs in calculating net profit for bomus purposes, In May
1999, the Board, subject to approval at the next annual general meeting, authorized the grant of a bonus to
an officer who is also a director in recognition of his efforts in completing the Offering.

rd
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Management Employment Agreements

Yoel Gat and Amiram Levinberg, two of our co-founders, are currently employed under
employment agreements renewable annually on December 31 of each year, The employment agreements
are subject to carlier termination by each officer upon 60 days™ notice to us. The agreements provide for an
adjustment to the annual bonuses payable 1o Messrs. Gat and Levinberg under their employment
agreements, and Mr. Gat's agreement provides for a personal annual allowance benefit of $150,000 to
cover personal expenses related to extended stays in the United States expected to result from the
integration of Spacenet. Among other pravisions, such agreements contain non-competition and
confidentiality provisions.

Advisory Board

We have authorized an Advisory Board to be composed of senior members of the business and
technology commmaity with expertise in areas of our business, who will be expected to advise and assist us
in determining and implementing our strategic course of action, as well as fostering contacts with
polential customers for our products. There are currently no appointees to the Advisory Board.

ITEM 12: OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES FROM REGISTRANT OR
SUBSIDIARIES

Stock Option Plans

In January 1993, we adopted the Stock Option Plan (Incentive and Restricted Stock Options) (the
**1993 ISO/RSO Plan®’) and Section 102 Option/Restricted Stock Purchase Plan (the **1993 Section 102
Plan'"}) (collectively, the *'1993 Plans™"). The 1993 Plans provide for the granting of options and/or rights
to purchase {in the case of the 1993 Section 102 Plar) up to an aggregate of 318,500 Ordinary Shares to
our officers, directors, key employees or consultants or any of our subsidiaries.

In June 1995, we adopted the following plans, referred to together as the ‘“1995 Plans’":

(D) the 1995 Stock Option Plan (Incentive and Restricted Stock Options) (the ** 1395
ISO/RSO Plan™), which provides for the granting of incentive and restricled stock options for the
purchase of up to 1,940,000 Ordinary Shares (increased by 1,820,000 from the priginal amount
as a result of resolutions of the Board in July 1996, February 1997, February, Seplember and
November 1998, which were approved by the shareholders in the respective annual mestings of
shareholders);

{ii) the 1995 Section 102 Stock Option/Stock Purchase Plan (ihe **1995 Section 102
Plan’*), which provides for the granting of options to purchase up to 1,620,000 Ordinary Shares
(increased by 1,400,000 as 2 result of resolutions of the Board in July 1996, February 1997, and
February 1998); and

(iif) the 1995 Advisory Board Stock Option Plan (the **1995 Advisory Board Plan™),
which provides for the granting of options to purchase up to 150,000 Ordinary Shares (decreased
by 20,000 as a result of resolutions of the Board in July 1996 and February 1997).

The purpose of the 1993 Plans and 1995 Plans is to enable us 1o attract and retain qualified
persons as employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors and to motivate such persons by
providing them with an equity participation in Gilat. In addition, the 1993 and 1995 ISO/RSO Plans are
designed to afford qualified optionees certain tax benefits available under the United States Internal

L
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Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the **Code™). The 1993 and 1995 Section 102 Plans are designed to
afford qualified optionees certain tax benefits under the Isracl Income Tax Ordinance. The 1595 Advisary
Board Plan is dcsngned to allow for the granting of options to members of the Advisory Board. The 1693

Plans will expire on January 27, 2003 and the 1995 Plans will expire on June 29, 2005 (10 years after
their adoption), unless terminated earlier by the Board.

Each of the 1993 Plans and the 1995 Plans is administered by a Stock Option Commitice

appointed by the Board. The Stock Option Committes (comprised of Messrs. Gat, Levinberg, Anghel and

‘Tadmor} has broad discretion, subject to certain limitations, to determine the persons entitled to receive

options or rights to purchase under the 1993 Plans and 1995 Plans, the terms and conditions on which

options or rights to purchase are granted and the number of shares subject thereto. The Stock Option

Committee also has discretion to determine the nature of the consideration to be paid upon the exercise of

an option and/or right to purchase granted under the 1993 Plans and the 1995 Plans, Such consideration
- generally may consist of cash, or, at the discretion of the Board, cash and a recourss promissory note.

Stock options issued as incentive stock options pursuant to both the 1993 and 1995 ISO/RSO
Plans will only be granted to the employees of Gilat or its subsidiaries, The exercise price of incentive
stock options issued pursuant to both the 1993 and 1995 ISO/RSO Plans must be at least equal to the fair
market value of the Ordinary Shares as of the date of the grant (and, in the case of optionees who own
more than 10% of the voting stock, the exercise price must equal at least 110% of the fair market value of
the Ordinary Shares as of the date of the grant). The exercise price of restricted stock options issued
pursuant to the 1993 and 1995 ISO/RSO Plans and the 1995 Advisory Board Plan must not be less than
the lower of (i) 50% of the bock vatue of the Ordinary Shares as of the end of the fiscal year immediately
preceding the date of such grant, or (ii) 50% of the fair market value per share of Ordinary Shares as of
the date of the grant. The price per share under options awarded pursuant to the 1993 and 1995 Section
102 Plans may be any price determined by the Stock Option Committee.

CouEd

The Ordinary Shares acquired upon exercise of an option are subject to restrictions on transfer,
sale or hypothecation. Options are exercisable and restrictions on disposition of shares lapse according to
the terms of the individual agreements under which such options were granted or shares issued. Ordinary
Shares as to which the rights associated with such shares have not vested will be held by a trustee
designated by us.

As of June 16, 1999, we granted options to purchase a total of 306,075 Ordinary Shares under
the 1993 Plans and 3,289,636 Ordinary Shares under the 1995 Plans for an aggregate of 3,595,711
Ordinary Shares subject to options under such plans. The exercise prices for such options vary from
$8.125 10 $55.125 and all such options expire at various times from September 2003 to May 2009, Of
= such options, 1,035,100 options were granted to officers and directors. As of June 16., 1999, options under
X the plans for a total of 437,765 shares had been exercised.

In December 1992, we granted options outside of any stock option plan to two then officers. One
officer, who has since again become an officer of an sffiliate of Gilat, was granted an option to purchase
- 24,500 Ordinary Shares, at an exercise price of $0.33 per ordinary share, and the other was granted an
option 1o purchase 33,333 Ordinary Shares at an exercise price of $12.00 per share, both on terms and
conditions comparable to those provided for under the 1993 Plans. As of June 16, 1999, 16,000 of these
options have been exercised.
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In May 1999, the Board approved the establishment of a new stock option plan under Section 102
of the Israel Income Tax Ordinance with 500,000 Ordinary Shares to be reserved for issuance.
Management was directed to prepare the plan and obtain the necessary regulatory approvals, The

= ' approvals have not yet been obtained and no options have been granted. The plan is also subject to
w approval of the next anmal meeting,

-

ITEM 13; INTEREST OF MANAGEMENT IN CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS

Shareholder Registration Rights Agreement, On August 20, 1990, Gilat entered into a
Preferred Steck Purchase Agreement with Yoel Gat, Amiram Levinberg, Joshua Levinberg, Shlomo
Tirosh and Gideon Kaplan (the **Founders™), Athena Venture Partners L P, and certain related entities,
DICFM, PEC and certain individual investors (the *“Investors’’) under which the Investors invested a
g total of approximately $3.0 million in exchange for Gilat's Preferred Shares (which Preferred Shares were
converted into Ordinary Shares at the time of Gilat’s initial public offering). In connection with such
agrecment, we entercd into a Registration Rights Agreement pursuant to which, among other things,

i (i) we agreed that at any time after the carlier of February 28, 1994 or six months after
- the effective date of the first registration statement for our initial public offering of securities, the
holders of at least 10% of the Ordinary Shares who were parties to the Preferred Stock Purchase

Agreement could request that we file a regisiration statement for such shares (a *‘demand
registration’"),

(ii) we agreed to include the Founders’ and Investors’ Ordinary Shares in a registration
proposed after one year following the first registration (a *'company registration'"),

gl

- (iii) we agresd to péy the expenses of a demand or company registration (subject to
- certain limitations), and

(iv) the Founders and Investors agreed that during a period to be specified by us and ths
underwriter (but not more than one year) following the effective date of a registration statement
for the Company’s sccurities, and to the extent requested by vs and the underwriter, they would
not directly or indirectly sell or offer the shares held by them, except Ordinary Shares included in
such registration, provided that all officers and directors angd all other persons with registration
rights enter into a similar agreement.

o Under the Registration Rights Agreement, we agreed to indemnify ezch of the selling
shareholders and any person who controls any of such shareholders, to the extent permitted by applicable
law, against any losses arising from any alleged untrue statemnent of 2 material fact or any alleged
- omission of a materiat fact in the registration statement or the prospectus for our public offering in
= October 1995 or from any violation by Gilat of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act. Our indemnity
does not cover any losses that arise from any alleged untrue statement or omission or violation made in
reliance upon information provided to us by such selling sharcholder. In addition, each of the sclling
shareholders agreed to indemnify us and our direciors and officers against any losses arising from any
information provided to us by such selling shareholder for use in the registration statement or the
prospectus. We had obtained insurance covering our officers and directors and the selling shareholders to
the extent permitted by law with respect to certain matters in connection with the registration statement
and prospectus for the October 1995 offering.

Transactions with Gilat Communications. In July 1996, we entered into an agreement with
. Gilat Communications Lid. (*'Gilat Communications’") under which Gilat Communications has been
W granted non-exclusive distribution rights to sell and provide technical support for our products in South
L
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Africa. In October 1997, we and Gilat Communications entered into a 5-year marketing and purchase
agreement (the **1997 Agreement”’) that replaced and terminated an earlier agresmient entered into in
1993. Pursuant to the 1997 Agreement, Gilat Communications has been granted the exclusive right to
market the lines of satellite communications products and related components and options, and to provide
services with such products in Israel and areas controlled by the Palestinian Authority. Under the 1997
Agreement, Gilat Communications is required to meet certain annual minimum purchase requirements
for each of three specified categories of our products, and during the initial term and any renewal term,
Gilat Communications may not, without our prior written consent, engage in certain activities competitive
with our business. If Gilat Communications satisfies the annual minimum purchase requirements, the
parties are required to enter into good faith negotiations to renew the 1997 Agreement three months prior
to its expiration. In addition, under the 1997 Agreement, Gilat Comumunications was granted non-
exclusive rights to distributc and sell our products worldwide when and only if sold as part of, or to be
used in conjunction with, Gilat Communications’ products,

- Throughaut 1998, we sold approximately $3.3 million in equipment to Gilat Communications for
distribution and as a valuc added reseller. The sales were in accordance with our standard sale terms and
conditions. Certain of our officers, directors, principal and other sharehotders are also shareholders of
Gilat Communications. For more information regarding certain transactions between us and Gilat
Communications, see Notes 9 and 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements listed in Item 19,

Merger-Related Agreements

In connection with our acquisition of Spacenet, we entered into a Merger Agreement and a szries
a of related agreements. The partics to those agreements include GE Americom which as of June 16, 1999

- holds approximately 23.84% of our outstanding Ordinary Shares, The terms of those agreements, and of
certain imporiant provisions of the Merger Agreement are surmmnarized below, :

7 Post-Closing Adjustments, The Merger Agreement cantemplates certain post-closing
) adjustments described below that may result in (a) our paying or receiving certain amounts in cash or ®)

our issuing additional Ordinary Shares 1o GE Americom in respect of such adjustments, Most of the post-
closing adjustments relate to an agreement between the parties that the net assets on the combined closing
balance sheet of Spacenet and its subsidiaries should equal $85 million and that any shortfall or excess, as
the case may be, should be addressed through post-closing adjustments, Other adjustments relate to the
collection of accounts receivable, the sale of specified items of Spacenet inventory and the allocation of
certain tax benefits.

GE Americom Equipment Purchase Commitment. GE Americom and its affiliates have
committed to purchase certain products from Gilat through the end of 1999, If the total purchasc orders
for such products is less than $37.5 million, 40% of the shortfall will be credited against the 1999 service
fees owed by us to GE Americom under the Satellite Transponder Service Agreements described below,

: Indemnification. Subject to the limitations set forth in the Merger Agreement, GE Americom

- has indemnified Gilat and Spacenet, and Gilat has indemnified GE Americom, from and against any

= losses arising from indemnified obligations. The indemnification obligations primarily relate to damages
arising from breaches by the other party of representations and warrantics under the transaction
documents, as well as indemnities with respect to specified obligations of each of the parties. The
obligations generally expire on a final survival date which, subject to certain exceptions, is 18 months
after the Closing Date.

The Transitional Services Agreement. Under the Transitional Services Agreement, GE 49 2
Americom has agreed, in consideration of the issuance of 5,505 Ordinary Shares, to provide Spacenet and

e its subsidiaries specificd transitional services, including finance services, accounting services, purchasing
services, cash management scrvicg, computer-related services and payroll processing services, until

'M"“'. 1445'. '5!) %7
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August 31, 1999. These services will be provided at no additional cost for Gilat, except for those services
A identified as being cutsourced which will be provided at a cost equal 10 GE Americom's outsourced costs.
N The Transitional Services Agreement also provides that GE Americom will provide certain additional
= : support or other similar services during the transition period that Gilat identifies as being reasonably
i necessary to the operations of Spacenet 2s presently conducted. These additional services will generally be
provided at a mutually agreed price, which will not exceed the direct and documented costs to GE
,; Americom. The transitional services Agreement or any specific transitional services may be terminated by
’ Gilat at any time during the transition period by providing a written notice of termination.

The Trademark Agreement. Under the Trademark Agreement, General Electric Company has
agreed to grant to Gilat, in consideration of 72,496 Ordinary Shares, a non-cxclusive worldwide license to
use the GE symbol in connection with certain products sold by Spacenet, Spacenet GmbH and Spacenet
BY, and certain services performed by Gilat, Spacenet, Spacenet GmbH and Spacenct BV. The
Trademark Agrecment requires that Gilat and Spacenet adhere to certain specified standards of quality.
The Trademark Agreement provides that Gilat will use the GE symbol only in connection with the
specified products and services, including use in its packaging, labeling, general publicity, letterheads,
signs and other forms of advertising, instructions books and other literature. In addition, the Trademark
Agreement provides that Gilat will not use the GE symbol as part of 2 trade name. The term of the
Trademark Agreement is three years and it may be renewed under certain circomstances for one
additional yzar. The Trademark Agreement will terminate (i) on the date that Gilat ceases to own 100% of
the voting securities of Spacenet Inc. and (i) as to Spacenet BV or Spacenet GmbH, on the date that Gilat
ceases to own 100% of the voting securities of such entity. Gilat has agreed to indemnify General Electric
Company for all ¢claims arising out of the Trademark Agreement or the manafacture of products or
performance of services by Gilat under the licensed mark.

RGO AT AN]
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The Sharcholders’ Agreement. At the time of the Spacenet acquisition, Yoel Gat, Amiram
Levinberg, Joshua Levinberg, Shlomo Tirosh and Gideon Kaplan (collectively, the **Founders Group™),
DICFM and PEC (collectively, the **IDB Group'), and GE, GE Americom, General Electric Finance
Holding GmbH and General Electric Plastics BV {for purposes of the following description, collectively,
""GE"") entered into a Sharcholders’ Agreement.

g PN BT

Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Founders Group, the IDB Group and GE have agreed to
vote their Ordinary Shares in order that the Board of Directors of Gilat be comprised of seven mermbers,
and in favor of the respective nominees of ach of the groups to the following extent;

s The Founders Group will be entitled to nominate three directors, as long as (i) the Founders
Group collectively owns at least 30% of the Ordinary Shares owned by them when the
Shareholders™ Agreement was signed, or (i) at least one of the members of the Founders
Group is serving as an employes of Gilat;

LR

» The IDB Group will be entitled to nominate two directors, as long as the IDB Group
collectively owns at least 50% of the Ordinary Shares owned by them when the
- Sharcholder’s Agreement was signed, or one director if the IDB Group owns between 25%
and 50% of those shares; and

»  GE will be entitled to nominate two directors, as long as GE owns at least 50% of the
Ordinary Shares owned by GE when the Shareholders” Agresment was signed, or one
director if GE owns between 33% and 50% of those shares.

In addition, each of the shareholders has agreed that it will vote all of its Ordinary Shares in
accordance with the recommendations of the Board of Directors in respect of any matter brought to a vote
i of the shareholders of Gilat, unless (i) the matter relates to certain significant merger, restructuring or

other similar transactions or (ii) is directly and materially adverse to the interests of the shareholder, The

S
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shareholders have further agreed, for a period of three years, 10 vote in favor of the retention of Gilat's
present sendor executive officers in their respective offices.

Under the Sharcholders® Agreement, GE has agreed to centain “‘stand-still"* provisions,
including agreements not to acquire any assets, businesses or properties of Gilat, or any Ordinary Shares
which would result in GE being the beneficial owner of greater than 33% of the Ordinary Shares of Gilat,

withaut the prior approval of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares held by the Founders Group
or the IDB Group,

GE has also agreed not Lo solicit proxies, call any special meeting of shareholders of Gilat, or
propose any form of business combination involving Gilat. GE's standstill agreement is subject to a
number of exceptions, including a release of any restrictions in the event of 2 bona fide third party tender
offer, or in the event that the Founders Group and the IDB Group no longer collectively hold at least 50%
of the Ordinary Shares held by them at the time the Sharcholders® Agreement was signed.

Subject 1o certain exceptions, the Sharcholders’ Agreement also provides for restrictions on the
transferability or pledge of the Ordinary Shares held by the GE parties for a period of three years from the
date of the Shareholders® Agreement, including general restrictions on the disposition of Ordinary Shares

to certain competitors of Gilat. In addition, the Sharcholders’ Agreement will generally provide for pro

rata rights of first refusal for the other parties with respect to the transfer of any Ordinary Shares by any
other affiliated party to any independent third party.

The Registration Rights Agreement. At the time of the Spacenet acquisition, the holders of
the Registrable Securities (as defined below) were granted certain segistsation rights by Gilat. The
*‘Registrable Securities®* generally include the Ordinary Shares issued to GE and held by GE or any of its
affiliates, or by any other person who is at such time a holder of Shares originally issued to GE and
representing at least 5% of the then outstanding Ordinary Shares, Gilat has initially agreed to the
immediate registration of all Registrable Securities solely in connection with the transfer of such shares to
one or more affiliates of GE. The Registration Rights Agreement also provides for certain demand
registration rights of GE and the holders of Registrable Securities. Gilat will not be required to effect any
registration during the pendency of certain blackout periods. GE will also have the right to participate
(subject to certain limited exceptions) on a piggy-back basis in all registrations of Gilat’s securities in
connection with any offering of its securities. Detailed provisions relating to the registration rights
described above, including but not limited to the number of registrations and the payment of expenses in
connection therewith, are included in the Registration Rights Agreement The Registration Rights
Agreement provides that Gilat will indemnify the selling holders of Registrable Securities, and that the
selling holders of Registrable Securities will indemnify Gilat, in each case, against certain liabilities and
expenses, including liabilities under the Sccuritics Act, or will contribute to payments that the other may
be required to make in respect thereof.

The Right of First Refusal Agreemest. Under the Right of First Refusal Agreement, GE
Americom has granted to Gilat, for a period of three years, a limited right of first refusal 10 be the
provider in respect of any proposal by GE Americom to obtain (i) any VSAT return channel equipment for
broadcast network and (if) any integration services for the incorporation of VSAT return channel
equipment into a broadcast network. In addition, for a corresponding peried, Gilat has agreed to grant to
GE Americom a limited right of first refusal to be the provider in respect of any proposal by Gilat to
obtain any additional space segment capacity on a communications satellite providing services within the
United States. Gilat has also agreed that certain integration services performed by Gilat for GE Americom
under the above-described right of first refusal will be at a discount of at least 20% from the price
provided by the relevant third-party provider. Under the Right of First Refusal Agreement, GE Americom
has agreed that if GE Americom commences offering GE*Star services, GE Americom will create a
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distribution program and will offer Gilat the right to become a world-wide distributor of GE*Star services
for a three-year period pursuant to the program terms and conditions established by GE Americom. In
addition, if GE Americom offers any third party an opportunity to become an exclusive distributor of
GE*Star services in any territory, Gilat wiil generally be offered an opportunity to act as a co-exclusive
distributor in such territory. If Gilat elects to become a distributor of GE*Star services, GE Americom
will under certain circumstances provide Gilat a discount on all wholesale GE*Star services,

The Satellite Transponder Service Agreements. Under the Satellite Transponder Service
Agreements, GE Americom has agreed to provide to Gilat (i) certain protected services on four
transponders on satellitc GSTAR4 operated by GE Americom, (ii) certain protected services on one
transponder on satellite GE-3 aperated by GE Americom, (iii} certain protected services on three
trangponders on satellite GE-5 to be constructed, launched and operated by GE Americom, (iv) certain
preemptible testing services relating to specified bandwidth and downlink EIRP on one transponder on
satellite SN-3 operated by GE Americom, and {v) certain protected Ku-band service on portions of certain
transponders on satellite GSTAR4 operated by GE Americom. The terms of the services provided under
each of the Satellite Transponder Service Agreements are specified in each such agreement, Generally, the\,
services will be provided until the earliest of the end of the life, date of replacement or failure of the
relevant satellite, the date on which the relevant transponder fails or is preempted, or a specified
termination date provided in each agreement. Except in the case of the agreement described in clause (iv)
above, Gilat will pay GE Americom a monthly recurring service charge (generally on a per-transponder
basis) in accordance with a schedule provided in each agreement. Subject to certain exceptions, the
Satellite Transponder Setvice Agreemenis provide for Gilat to indemnify GE Americom and certain
affiliates for claims arising out of services provided thereunder.

The Letter Agreements.  Under the Transponder Letter Agrecment dated September 25, 1938,
GE Americom and Gilat have agreed, among other things, that (i} Gilat will analyze Spacenet’s current
space segment use and requirements on or before December 31, 1998 and will take certain transponder
capacity on GE Americom satellites at the prices set forth in the Spacenet Letter Agreement described
below and (ii) Gilat will receive long-term fixed prices which Gilat believes are competitive and certain
rights of first refusal for additional space segment capacity, Pursuant {0 a separate letter agrecment, dated
September 25, 1998 (the *‘Spacenet Letter Agreement"*), GE Americom will provide additional
bandwidth and power as well as service protection Ievels to Spacenet to the extent there is insufficient
bandwidth, power or protection levels available to accommodate existing customer requirements under
Spacenet's existing transponder service agreements with GE Americom and third party providers, Upon
completion of the procedures contemplated by these letter agreements, certain modifications to the
Satellite Transponder Service Agreements may resull,

The Tax Matters Agreement. On September 25, 1998, GE Americom, Spacenet, the Spacenel
subsidiaries and Gilat entered into the Tax Matters Agreement in connection with the Merger Agreement.
‘The ‘Tax Matters Agreement provides for, among other things, the parties’ responsibility for payment of
taxes, filing of tax returns, and control of any avdit or other tax proceeding relating to Spacenet and the
Spacenet subsidiaries. The Tax Matters Agreement also contains representations, cavenants and
indemnities relating to general tax matters of the parties.

The Merger is intended to qualify as a **tax-free’’ reorganization under Scction 368(a) of the
Code. The Tax Matters Agreement contains representations and covenants of the parties relating to the
tax-free nature of the Merger. In addition, GE Americom has agreed to enter into a gain recognition
agreement (the '*GRA”’) with the Internal Revenue Service, in which GE Americom will agree in certain
circumstances during the peried ending at the end of the fifth full taxable year following the Merger to
recopmize gain as if the Merger were taxable to GE Americom. In connection with tiie GRA, Gilat has
agreed in the Tax Matters Agrecment not to take certain actions, including, without limitation, the
disposition of the stock of Spacenet and the disposition of **substantially ali” of the assets of Spacenet and
the Spacenet subsidiaries, if doin§ so would cause GE Americom o recognize gain under the GRA, The
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Tax Matters Agreement provides that Gilat, Spacenet and the Spacenet subsidiaries, on the one hand, and
GE Americom, on the other, will indemnify the other party from any tax resulting from certain breaches
of representations and covenants relating to the tax-free nature of the Merger. Each party’s Liability for
purposes of such indemnification will be limited in certain respects pursnant to the terms of the Tax
Matters Agreement.

The Tax Matters Agreement provides that the amount of any cash that GE Americom has a right
10 receive wader-the-Fax-Matters-Agreement-or-any-othec.agreement-related-to-the-Mergsr will be reduced
to the extent that the receipt of such amount would cause the fair market value of the cash and property
other than Ordinary Shares reccived by GE Americom in connection with the Merger, in-exchange-for-the
stosk-ef-Spacenet, to exceed 25% of the fair market value of the Ordinary Shares delivered by Gilat to GE
Americom at Closing, subject to certain exceptions pursuant to the Tax Matiers Agreement.

¥ The Tax Matters Agreement provides that, in certain circumstances, if the Merger is subject to
tax pursuant to Section 367 or Section 368 of the Code (including, if GE Americom recognizes gain
pursuant to the GRA), then GE Americom shall, subject to applicable United States and Israeli securities
Jaws, be entitled to sell such number of Ordinary Shares reasonably nccessary in the opinion of a
nationally recognized investment bank to realize net proceeds equal to the amount of such tax plus the
amount of any tax paid by GE Americom in connection with the sale by GE Americom of such Ordinary
Shares.

N
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PART II
ITEM 14: DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES TO BE REGISTERED
Not applicable.
PART III
ITEM 15: DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES
Not applicable.

ITEM 16: CHANGES IN SECURITIES, CHANGES IN SECURITY FOR
REGISTERED SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

Not applicable.

PART IV
ITEM 17: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Not applicable.

ITEM 18: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto required by this item are

contzined on pages F-1 through F-40 hereof.

ITEM 19;: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND EXHIBITS

{a) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Aud.ltors

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 1997 a11d 1998 .oorowooooroermoeess o
Consolidated Statements of Income for the Years Ended December 31 1996 1997 and 1998
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31,

1996, 1997 and 1998 ..

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for thc Years Ended Deccmber 31 1996 1997 and 1993

Notes 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

Repart of Independent Auditors with respect of Gilat Florida ...

) Exhibits

21 Consent of Kesselman & Kesselman
22 Consent of Berman, Hopkins, Wright,
Amold & Laham, L1LP
s
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Hughes Electronics Corporation Response to
FCC Initial Request for Information dated February 4, 2002

Box #: FCC 1

Source: Tim Kirkwood
Hughes Network Systems

Production #s: FCC2A000000391 — FCC2A000000774
FCC Request Responsive to: XV.A
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GILAT SATELLITE NETWORKS LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)
1998 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 ¥ahoo - {3ilat Reports Record Resul...ond Quarter and First Half of 2000 http://biz.yahoo.com/bw/000814/gilat_sate.htrmi
technologies, products and applications, rapid changes in the market for Gilat's products, loss of market
share and pressure on prices resulting from competition, introduction of competing products by other
companies, inability to manage growth and expansion, loss of key OEM partners, inability to attract and
retain qualified personnel, inability to protect the Company's proprietary technology and risks associated
with Gilat's internaticnal operations and its location in Isracl For additional information regarding these
and other tisks and uncertainties associated with Gilat's business, reference is made to Gilat's reports
filed from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
. . GILAT W2 ZooD
Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd. :
An Israeli Corporation PILARYE  SiceET
Condensed Consclidated Balance Sheets 0 -«
{NC STAT
US dollars in thousands June 30 December 31
2000 1985
{unaudited) faudited}
Assets
Current assets: -
Cash and cash equivalents 67,418 33,381
5 Short-term bank depesits and current T “,’;{-r-/ ol
- maturities of long-term bank dep051ts 244,130 61,540 Zooe fual e
Short-term loan to an . Acely, I8
associated company - s _,i:’..'__’w
Rccounts receivable: AL Set et
Trade 121,336 111,417 2,999 Fal
oOther 101,435 71,982 e -
Inventories 117,225 81,060 JRRY LT S
Total current assets 651, 544 359,380
Investments and non-current
receivables: ' / ,.7/ .
Long-term bank deposits A 0 50,000 Tniedmed di aspee. Compmsns  [Yoga
Investments in companigs Tavasbunss ] ‘ Tovert vun wther  rompaiies 13,033
i and non-current receivables L 127@ _______ f?fi_&f | Nowr- cwioent Feecionbles ._“ )
Pecewebl 9% 139 010 108,534 T8, 55
Y T
Property, plant and equipment:
Cost 264,117 188,555
Less - accumulated depreciation
& amortization 49,761 38,742
214,356 159,813
Other assets and deferred
charges - net 91,902 51,126
1,084,812 678,852
. Liabilities and shareholders' equity
- Current liabilities:
‘ Short-term bank credit 30 6,986
Accounts payable and accruals:
Trade 52,565 39,488
Accrued expences 29,800 27,833
Other 21,928 19,766
Total current iiabilities 104,320 94,073
Convertible subordinated notes 350,000 75,000
Accrued severance pay 3,354 1l,8€8
: Jof5 8/14/00 11:06 AM
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¥ahoo - Gilat Reports Record Resul...ond Quarter and First Half of 2000

Other long-term liabilities 23,337 B,089
Total liabilities 481,011 179,030
Sharsholders' eguity:
Share capital and additional
paid in capital 616,259 527,116
Capital fund (3,360) (2,557}
Accumulated deficit {9,098) (24,736)
603,801 499,823
1,084,812 678,853

. Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd.
- An Israeli Corporation
Condensed Consolidated Income (Loss) Statements

{Unaudited)

http://biz.yahoo.com/bw/000814/gilat_sate htim,

8ix menths ended

Three months ended

- Us dollars in thousands June 30
' 2000 1599

Revenues 124,547 140,498
Cost of revenues 121,644 79,583
Gross profit 72,903 60,915
Research and development

costs:
Expenses incurred 16,089 11,347
Lese - grants 1,037 1,016

15,052 10,331

Selling, general and

administrative expenses 41,854 31,059
Operating Income 15,997 19,525
Financial income

{(expenses) - net (B0S) 1,076
Other income - net 58
Income before taxes

cn income 15,191 20,659
Taxes on income (201) {485)
Income after taxes

on income 14,990 20,174
Share in profits (losses)

of associated companies 372 (72)
Minority Share in losses

of a subsidiary 276
Net income o~ 155,638 20,102

Y

Basic $0.72 51.01
Diluted $0.65 £0.97

Weighted average number
of shares used in
computation of earnings

4of 5
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June 30
2000 1999
108,603 74,376
69,219 42,301
39,384 32,075
8,414 5,662
525 835
7,889 4,827
22,584 16,625
8,911 10,623
{865) 1,457
- 58
8,046 12,138
(104} (200)
7,942 11,938 ¥
i a*ﬂﬁ#w
902 “}'484'{W£ e
- dl‘- f
276 "5 AR

3~ 12,086 34\
9,120,,5%" 12,085

$0.58

§0.56

8/14/00 11:06 AM
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¥ahoo - Gilat Reports Record Resul...ond Quarter and First Half of 2000

htip://biz.yahoo.com/bw/000814/gilat _sate htm
3
. per share (in Thousands) .
Basic 21,816 138,850 22,440 20,9581
Diluted 23,910 20,‘?0:! -5;:527 _51:‘;;;
Contact:
Gilat Satellite Networks, McLean, Virginia
Dianne VanBeber
Vice President, Investor Relations
703-848-1515
N
- or
Ruder Finn, Inc., New York
Magda Gagliano
212-593-831%
Email this s Vi | ; iled
More Quotes and News: Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd (NasdagNM:GILTF - news)
Related News Categories: computers, eamings, telecom
i 1| .eahe i Help
Copyright © 2000 Yahoo! All Rights Reserved. Privacy Policy ~ Tenms of Service
Copyright 2000 Business Wire, All rights reserved. All the news relcases provided by Business Wire are copyrighted. Any
forms of copying other than an individual user's personal reference without express written permission is prohibited. Further
distribution of these materials is strictly forbidden, including but not limited to, posting, emailing, faxing, archiving ina
public database, redistributing via a computer network or in a printed form.
! ¥
1 -
|
i
i
| 5
! i
| ;
5of 5

8/14/00 11:06 AM
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Gilat Communications Page 1 of 2

NGt U/

Shlomo Tirosh is a co-founder of Gilat and has been serving as Chairman of tt
- Directlors and the Chief Executive Officer since its inception and as President ur
™% 1999, Mr. Tirosh is also a director of Gilat Satellite Networks and served as the ¢
the Board of Directors of Gilat Satellite Networks between 1987 and 1995. Fram
1987, Mr. Tirosh served in the Israel Defense Forces, where he held a variety ot
professional and field command positions and retired with the rank of colonel. F
1985, he headed a large research and development unit, and from 1985 to 1987
managed a large-scale technology project for the Israel Ministry of Defense. In1
received the Israel Defense Award, Israel's most prestigious research and devel
award. Mr. Tirosh holds a bachelor of arts degree (summa cum laude) in econor
Bar-llan University in Ramat Gan. .

Dr. Steven W, Allen joined Gilat in February 2000 as Chairman of Gilat Commit
Inc. Prior to that, Dr. Allen was the Chairman and founder of Allen Communicati
Allen has over 20 years of experience in the creation and imptementation of innt
instructional techniques and strategies. He has been voted one of the top 100 m
producers, in 1996 and in 1999, by Knowledge Industry Publications, and in 189
Academy of Multimedia program received the Utah Governor's Award of Excelle
Allen holds an Ed.D in Educational Theory and Curriculum Development and a |
degree in music performance, both from Utah State University.

Eran Lasser joined Gilat on Jan. 2001 as Co-CEO. Since the establishment of .
in 1993, Mr. Lasser successfully built israel's leading training company with brar
1srael and Europe. Under his leadership, John Bryce became the leading IT Trai
in Israel and a world wide pioneer of blended e-learning methodologies and tech
Lasser served in Israel's Defense Forces as deputy commander of the IT Trainir
and holds a degree in Computers and Mathematics from Bar-{lan University

Ziv Mandl joined Gllat on Jan. 2001 as Co-CEO, snd was appeinted to Menterg
February 2001. Since the establishment of John Bryce in 1993, Mr. Lasser succs
israel's leading training company with branches in 1sraet and Europe. Under his |
John Bryce became the leading IT Training group in Israel and a world wide pior
blended e-leaming methedologies and techniques. Ziv Mand] served as chief int
IDF's IT Training Center, and holds a degree in Computers and Political Science
ltan University

Eytan Mucznik formerly John Bryce's CFO, was appointed as Gilat's CFOon Ji
For the last four years, as CFO of John Bryce, Mr. Mucznik was involved in all A
transactions and was instrumental in placing John Bryce as an intemational lead
field. From 1994 io 1997 he was a senjor financial controlier in various capacitie
Sapiens Intenational Corporation N.V., and prior to that, controller in a worldwid
cormpany. Mr. Mucznik is an israel Certified Public Accountant and hoids a degn
Accounting and Economics from Tel Aviv University.

=b 1 A u e ,

Chip Schuneman joined Gilat as Mentery's COO on July 2000. Was previously
President of Marketing and Business Development at Catapult, Inc., a wholly-ow
subsidiary of IBM's Learning Services. With a background in banking, and iIBMr
software sales, Mr. Schuneman joined Catapult in 1993 as an account executive
quickly rose through the ranks during his 7-year tenure. Schuneman's extensive

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION FCC2A000000394
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cited as key criteria leading to his appointment as COO of Mentergy. Schunema
Catapult's first national sales team, and boosted Catapuli's Leaming Services re
additionat service offerings. He also helped launch Catapult's e-leaming site dur
organization's strategic shift from standard, public, instructor-led training classes
e-leaming and blended offerings.

Ray Kelly joined Mentergy as Senior VP of Sales on December 2000. In his m«
position at E Ink Corporation, a pre-IPO start-up company, Kelly was responsible
worldwide sales and distribution for E Ink's Immedia display technologies. From
1998 at Hewlett Packard, Kelly was responsible for creating and leading the Hev
Packard Retail Industry Organization, including sales, marketing and business
development. Under Kelly's leadership, this team captured new business from o
the 1op 100 retailers, achieving 372 percent sales growth in less than three year:
Mr. Kelly was appointed NCR's vice president in the Retail Systems Division res
developing the Wal-Mart Stores Inc. account in Bentonville, AR. in that capacity
glabal team that helped Wal-Mart move to open client/server systems, impleme
world’s largest computer system, and grew NCR's annual revenue with Wal-Mar
than $6 million to over $100 million.

Bill Byron Concevitch joined Mentergy as Director of Business Development o
2001. Since June 2000 he was the Senior Vice President Sales of Element K {fc
Davis Education - ZDU). From 1993 to June 2000 Mr. Concevitch held various k
executive positions with ExecuTrain Corporation, including Vice President of Sa
that he increased sales revenue pipelines by over 600%), and Chief Learning Of
. (during that he transformed ExecuTrain's core business from single product offe -
. multiple product and service offering, and design and development of ExecuTra
University (EVL) with multiple e-leaming components). Prior 10 his tenure with &
Mr. Concevitch spent numerous years inside the Dale Camegie Training organiz
serving in pasitions of Corporate Training Specialist and Director of Marketing in
institutes. He led his team to the winning of the coveted "President’s Award,” a s
achieved by less than five percent of all of the worldwide Dale Camnegie Institute
Concevitch is a schooled recording engineer, studying under Clair D. Krepps (m
Grammy award winner) at the JMSS School for Recording Arts and Sciences, re
masters in audio engineering and completing undergraduate work at Allentown (
St. Francis de Sales.

Hugh Simpson-Wells, MD of Aris Education, is the founder of Aris Education {i

c Oxford Computer Group, and now owned by John Bryce Training). Now, as the |

: Director, Hugh is responsible for activities throughout the UK and Europe - bring

- 18 years of training industry experience, both as an entrepreneur and as a senio

' public company. He has a Masters degree in Engineering Science from St John'
Oxford.

"N Home TN SkeMap TN Kbt/ WContace Us/*
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MENTERGY ANNOUNCES ORGANIZATIONAL

CHANGES AND NEW CEO

Tuesday, February 20, 2001

Atlanta, GA, February 20, 2001 - The US. subsidiary of Gilat Communications, Lid.
(NASDAQ:GIGOF), Mentergy, Inc., a leading North American provider of enterprisa e-
Learning soluticns, today announced that in order to increase market focus it has formed two
business units, LearnLinc and Allen Communications e-Learning Services. In addition, co-
CEO of Gilat Communications’ Ziv Mandl has been named Chief Executive Officer of
Mentergy.

Under the new organization, the LearnLinc virtual classroomn division will deliver live e-
Learning products, including Gilat's TrainNet broadband PC and Interactive TV training
platforms. Allen Communications e-Learning Services division will focus on Mentergy's
custom e-learning service— including consutting services and courseware development—as
‘well as further development of best-in-breed e-Learning software authoring, instructional
design and management tools to assist in the creation of custom e-learning. Allen
Communications elearning Services division has also created revolutionary new software
that helps companies create time saving repositories of learning objects that will bring
enormous savings through re-use and faster creation time. These two business units
together with its [T training business in Europe and |srael complete Gilat's and Mentergy's
offering worldwide.

The creation of the two divisions will aliow Mentergy to provide better support to its
customers and to respond to market needs faster and more efficiently, while at the same
time benefiting from the synergies between the two divisions. The company has increased its
marketing and sales expenditures, including extensive hires in field sales, as part of the re-
organization. Mentergy will also increase its aperational efficiency by reducing its workforce,
and closing the company’s Virginia offices. To better utilize research and development
resources, Mentergy has consclidated and integrated its R&D teams inte one unit located in
the United States, which will take the lead in further integrating the L eamline and TrainMNet
platiorms into the next generation of live e-Learning software.

As part of the re-organization, Ziv Mandi was named chief executive officer of Mentergy. Mr.
Mand!, the former Co-founder and Co-CEO of John Bryce Training—also a Gilat
subsidiary—will manage Mentergy on a full-time basis from the company's headquarters in
Atlanta. Mr. Mandl is credited with building John Bryce Training into a leading IT training
company in Israel and Eurape.

Mr. Mand| will be integratly invalved in focusing the company’s sales and marketing
activities, as well as assisting in the development of a VAR channel.

“These changes will help minimize redundancies and raise efficiencies in meeting customer
expectations,” said Ziv Mandl. “The series of steps we have undertaken will enable us to
support expected reveriue growth through 2001 and improve margins at the same time.”

“The creation of two separate divisions will allow for much greater focus on core
competencies, similar to what we have accomplished at John Bryce Training,” adds Mr.
Mandl. "In each division, we will leverage our large customer base and brand recognition,
while buitding on strategic relationships in these distinct e-Learning market segments”

Mentergy Chairman Steve Allen said of the new organization, *| am excited that this new
structure creates clear solutions for our customers. Through the two divisions, we will build
on the solid base of recognition and reputation for which our Allen Communication and

1 sarnLine brands are known. |n addition, we will coptinue to provide added value by offering
a full host of services white retaining our technological edge and methodology in our core
competency of e Leamning. Whether it's live e-Learning or custom e-Learning services, our
technoiogy, service and customer expertise will continue to make Mentergy a dominant
player in this market.”

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION FCC2AQ00000396
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“Effective learning within organizations today produces results. Whether those resulfs include
higher productivity, faster product launches, increased sales, or higher retention of key
employees, they all contribute to higher profit,” said Chip Schunerman chief aperating officer
of Mentergy. “By combining the unique solutions of consulting course development and live
eearning {narrow and broadband) Mentergy leverages its 21 years of expertise to enable
companies to deliver those result more quickly and in truly measurable ways."

About Mentergy

Mentergy, lnc. is a Gilat Communications, Ltd. [NASDAQ:GICOF] e-Learning company that
provides a comprehensive set of e-learning products, consuiting and courseware
development services for large enterprises through its Learntine and Allen communication
properties. With over 21 years of expertise in the learning industry, Mentergy assists
businasses woridwide in making a cost-effective shift from traditional leamning, with its
inherent expense and loss of productivity, to a blended approach, which includes technology-
based training solutions or “e-Learning.” Mentergy's customers range from mid-size
companies to Global 2000, including Aetna S Healthcare, WorldCom, MadeZ2Manage,
Citibank, Countrywide, Rockwelt-Callins, Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia, Intel and
other industry leaders. For more information, visit http:/Avww.mentergy.com.

About Gilat Communications

Gilat Communications, Ltd. [NASDAQ: GICOF), is a global leader in learning using
advanced, blended e-learning techniques and technologies. Gilat Cormmunications formed
Mentergy, its e-Learning operation, by merging Allen Communication, which has provided
advanced courseware development services and technology-based authoring and design
tools for almost 20 years to mare than 60% of the Fortune 500, with LearnlLinc Corporatian,
featuring live, collaborative Web-based training via the LearnLinca virtual classroom, used by
hundreds of organizations around the world and interactive distance tearning (IDL) solutions
woridwide. TrainNet™, Gilat's comprehensive broadband IDL solution allows organizations
to conduct instructor-led or self-paced sessions utilizing computers, telephare, Internet
connections and broadband communications. John Bryce Training is Gilat's European IT
training and content company, and is one of the leading providers of T training services in
Europe and the Middle East.

www.gilat.net

About John Bryce Training

John Bryce Training is a leading T training company in Israel and Europe and a fast-growing
enterprise in this field since 1984. The company offers over 200 different programs and
courses, each tailor-made to suit its clients’ rapidly changing needs. .John Bryce trains IT
professionals, managers, developers and infrastructure personnel in a wide range of
subjects, and is an authorized training solution provider for companies such as Microsoft,
Oracle, Sun Microsystems, Cisco, Novell, and others.

www.johnbryce.co.il

MentergyTM is a trademark and LeamLinc® is a registered trademark of Gilat
Communications. All other brand names, product names, or trademarks belong to their
respective holders.

Certain statements made herein that are not historical are forward-looking within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The words "estimate”
“project” "intend” “expect” "believe” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. These ferward-coking statements involve known and unknown risks and
uncertainties. Many factors could cause the actuat results, performance or achievements of
the Company to be materially different from any future results, perfermance or achievements
that may be expressed or implied by such forward-tooking statements, including, among
others, changes in general economic and business conditions, inability to maintain market
acceptance to the Company's products, inability to timely develop and introduce new
technologies, products and applications, rapid changes in the market for the Company’s
products, loss of market share and pressure on prices resutting from competition,
introduction of competing products by other companies, inability to manage growth and
expansiofn, loss of key OEM partners, inability to attract and retain qualified personnel,
inability to protect the Company's proprietary technology and risks associated with the
Cotnpany’s international operations and its location in Israel. For additional information
regarding these and other risks and uncertainties associated with the Company's husiness,
reference is made to the Company’s reports filed from time to time with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Back to the news page
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Excerpts from StarBand Communications IPO Filing

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION

(a.k.a. Gilat-to-Home)

Filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
on Form S-1, Oct. 11, 2000

Value: $287,500,000 nominally

FCC2A000000398



« __we do not have a chief financial officer, but we are
currently conducting a search for one.”
i . from SEC Form $-1 filing, p. 11

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION FCC2A000000399



« __we have a limited operating history and

T 3

as of August 31, 2000, we had an accumulated deficit of
approximately $88.0 million.

... we expect to record substantial losses for at
least the next few years.”

- - from SEC Form $-1 filing, p. 2

5
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Inception of Company
January 11, 2000

Financial information in this ﬁliﬁg is for the period

January 11 through August 31, 2000, some 7 1/2 months.

3 Strategic Relationships

EchoStar
Microsott
Gilat Satellite Networks, Ltd. and subsidiaries

FCC2A000000401



Microsoft Relationship

from SEC Form $-1 filing. p. 60

In March 2000, in connection with Microsoft’s investment in our company, we
- entered into a four-year agreement to supply wholesale broadband Internet access 10
N MSN...The Agreement requires us to achieve five milestones during
_ the initial term relating primarily to our fulfilling production levels for our
- . StarBand modem, achieving minimum levels of MSN subscribers and other
technical matters set forth in the agreement. MSN’s commitment to the
agreement is contingent upon our meeting these milestones. To date,
we have not completed any of the milestones set forth in this
agreement... MSN will provide a subsidy for a portion of the cost of the customer
premises equipment for MSN subscribers. Pursuant to this agreement, we agreed

to pay MSN a one time fee of $1.25 million to offset 2 portion of MSN’s
subscriber acquisition costs.

from SEC Form S-1 filing. p. 9
“Microsoft agreed to purchase our products and network services on a wholesale
basis...for a period of at least four years after our completion of milestones under our
agreement with them. We have not yet, and may never, complete these milestones.

“If we do not complete the milestones, Microsoft will not be required to
purchase our products...

“_if we fail to complete the milestones, Microsoft would be permitted to sell

its ownership stake in our company to Spacenet.”
[Note: Meaning Spacenet will have to give the $50 million back to Microsoft.]

from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 12
; {Gilat, EchoStar and Microsoft] may also develop different business
| objectives than ours. As a result, situations may arise in which their interests
| diverge from ours..we expect Microsoft and EchoStar to primarily

P target new customers for the MSN and DISH businesses by offering our high-
P ~ speed Internet access in conjunction with their products, buy we may wish to
primarily focus on existing MSN and DISH subscribers as the greater opportunity to
i sell our service,

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION FCC2A000000402



EchoStar Relationship

m EchoStar Communications, with over 4.5 million subscribers, has agreed to co-
- market StarBand services to customers of its DISH television service.

from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 9

“On February 22, 2000, we entered into a memorandum of agreement
with EchoStar....The arrangement terminates on March 31, 2001.

“Our arrangement with EchoStar is not exclusive. EchoStar may stop
co-marketing with us and begin marketing services that compete
with ours, such as the service offering WildBlue Communications is
developing. EchoStar has invested $50 million in WildBlue. We could
lose our primary retail distribution channel...

from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 12

. [Gilat, EchoStar and Microsoft] may also develop different business
objectives than ours. As a result, situations may arise in which their
L F interests diverge from ours...we expect Microsoft and EchoStar to
! primarily target new customers for the MSN and DISH businesses by
‘ offering our high-speed Internet access in conjunction with their
products, buy we may wish to primarily focus on existing MSN and
DISH subscribers as the greater opportunity to sell our service.

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION FCC
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FCC License

“The FCC granted the licenses for the two smallest remote user antennas,
measuring 0.96 meters and 0.75 meters on 2 conditional basis for use in up
to 20,000 locations pending the outcome of a public proceeding concerning
the type of network access scheme used by many satellite data networks.”

- from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 15

«A subsidiary of Spacenet currently has an application on file with the FCC
to seek authority for communications with Telstar 7 and increase the number
of 0.75m remote user locations Spacenet may operate to 100,000.

- from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 47

“The FCC has established guidelines for human exposure to radio frequency
energy. Between the feed horn and the reflector of our VSAT dish antennas,
the radio frequency exposure exceeds the acceptable level established by

o the FCC.”
- from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 47

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION
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Lawsuits

E

Global Communications

On or about July 26, 2000, Globecomm systems, Inc. commenced a lawsuit
against us in the Eastern District of New York alleging the willful infringement of
their U.S. patent relating to a particular means of transferring and receiving
communications signals between a remote terminal and a network operations

center via satellite....
- from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 49

| Hughes Electronics

In addition, on May &, 2000, Hughes Electronics Corporation commenced a
lawsuit against Gilat and Spacenet in the District of Maryland, alleging will
full infringement of four patents....A ruling against Gilat or Spacenet would

! significantly harm our business because we license technology from them

‘g (Gilat] that forms part of Hughes’ claim. In particular, the single potentially
B relevant claim is related to personal computer based receiver cards that we
b use as part of our service offering to consumers. We may not be able to
continue to use the technology if Hughes prevails on its claim regarding this
P technology.

- from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 49

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION FGC2A000000406
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p Principal Stockholders

Rt 3

Beneficial Ownership

Prior to Offering
Number of
Beneficial Owner Shares Percent
Yoel Gat 3,345,338 38% -6
Officers and directors as a group 10,168,723 11.5% 107
Spacenet Inc. 39.423,351 44.7% 42-*
Microsoft G-Holdings, Inc. 16,748,844 19.0% t.-°
EchoStar Communications Corporation 16,755,317 19.0% (%°
- ING Furman Selz Investments 6,823,385 ]ﬁ 7>
jo ¥ A (ool 7

- from SEC Form S-1 filing, p. 55
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‘ Gilat Satellite Networks Announces Filing of StarBand Registration
Statement

Oclober 14, 2000, Petah Tikva, lsrael - Gilat Satellte Networks Lid. (Nasdaq: GILTF) today announced
that StarBand Communications Inc. (*StarBand") has filed a registration statement with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission for an initial public offering of common stock lead managed by
Merrill Lynch & Co., with Crexiit Suisse First Boston, Salomon Smith Barey, CIBC World Markets and
ING Barings as co-managers. Gilat, through its affiiiate, owns approximately 40 percent of StarBand,

StarBand, leunching nationwide service in the fourth quarter 2000, is a provider of two-way, always-on
high-speed Infernet access via sateliite to residential and small office/ome office customers across the
United States.

bor e

A registration statement relating to these securities has been filad with the Securtiies and Exchange
Commission but has not yet become effective. These securtties may not be sold nor may offers to buy be
accepled ptior to the time the registration statement becomes effective. This press release shall not

- constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall thete be any sale of these
securities in any State in which such offer, solickation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or
qualification under the securities taws of any such State.

About Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd.

Gilat Sateiiite Networks Ld., with its globe! subsidiaries Spacenet Inc., Gilat Europe and Gllat Florida
Inc., is a leading provider of telecommunications solutions based on VSAT satellite nefwork technolegy.
The GCompany pravides satelite-based, end-to-end enterprise networidng and rural telephony solutions to

. customers across six continents, and markets interaclive broadband data services. The Company is 2

S joint venture partner, with Microsoft Corp., EchoStar Gommunications Corp. and ING Furman Selz

: Investments, in StarBand Communications Inc., America's first consumer,always-on, nationwide,
two-way, high-speed satellite Internet service provider. StarBand Is based in McLean, Va.
SkyBlaster(TM), Skystar Advantage(R), SkyWay(TM), DialAway(R) and FaraWay(T M) are trademarks

= or registered trademarks of Gilat Satelite Networks Lid, or its subsidiaries. Vistt Gitat at www gilat.com
and StarBand at www . starband.com.

Certain statements made herein that afe not historical are forward-looking within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, The words "estimate”, “project”, “intend”, “expect”,
"helieye" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-fooking statements. These
forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncerlainties, Many factors could
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of Gllat to be materially different from any future
results, performarice or achigvernents that may be expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements. including, ameng others, changes in general economic and business conditions, inability to
maintain fmarket acceptance to Gilat's products, inabiity to timely develop and introduce new
technologies, products and applications, rapid changes in the market for Gilat's products, loss of markel
share and pressure on prices resulting from competition, introduetion of competing praducts by other
companies, inability to manage growth and expansion, loss of key OCM pariners, inability to attract and
) . retain qualified personnel, inability to protect the Company's proprietary technology and risks associated
] with Gital's international operations and its location in |srael For additional information regarding these

i ’ and other risks and uncertainties associated with Gllat's business, reference is made to Gilat's reports
P filed fram time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

GILAT COMPANY CONTACT:
Dianne VanBeber

' vice President, Investor Relations
Gilat Satellite Networks

McLean, Virgina

703-848-1515

dianne vanbebergdspacenet.com

| GILAT IR CONTACT:
i Magda Gagliano
. Ruder Finn, inc.
- 212-6523-6319
Ny gagltanemg@ruderfinn com

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION FCC2A000000407
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Starband Pulls $287.5 Million TPO

Latest videos

from ABCNEWS.com
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Friday March 9 3:

Starband Pulls $287.5 Million IPO

WASHINGTON (Reuters) - StarBand Communications Inc , a
provider of high-speed Internet access via satellite and co-founded
by Gilat Satellite Networks
EchoStar Communications
Microsoft Corp. (NasdagNM:MSFT - news), withdrew on Friday
its plans to go public.

StarBand cited " changed circumstances in the securities markets,”
the communications company said in a Securities and Exchange

filing.

The company, based in McLean, Va., is the latest firm to withdraw
ffering due to market conditions. It was hoping to raise $287.5 million in an
IPO of common stock.

an initial public o

StarBand filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (news - web sites) on
October 11, 2000 for an initial public offering of common stock.

Archived Stories by Date:

Ltd. (NasdaqgNM:GILTF -
Corp. {NasdagNM:DISH -

Related Quotes

DISH 28 3/
GILTF 31 9/16
MSFT 55 5/8
DIllA 10625.38
MIX 195.48
NASDAQ  2050.49
~PSE 738.54

S&P 500 1231.64

.

o

delayed 20 mins - disc

Email this story - View most popular | Printer-friendly format

News Resources
:%, Message Boards: Post/Read Msgs'

% Conversations: Start a live discussion

470 News Alerts; Securities and Exchange Commission |

Echostar Communications Corp | Gilat Satellite Networks Lid |

Microsoft Corp
ore Alofts: News, Mobile, Stocks

http:f/da}ilynews.yahou.com/h/nml200 10309/tc/starband _ipo_dc_1.html
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StarBand Communications Inc.
Form S-1
October 11, 2000

“Proposed Sale to the Public”

Common Shares issued and outstanding:

Actual, as of Aug 31, 2000 33,879,757
Pro forma, as of Aug. 31, 2000 88,108,650
Difference, i.e., additional common shares that will be outstanding T 54228893
2 as a result of the Offering
| Number of common shares resulting from automatic conversion of 54,228,893

existing preferred shares. [Upon offering all existing preferred shares
convert automatically into common shares.)

Implications

1 As described by the filing, the Offering is for the purpose of converting existing
preferred shares to common shares; and for providing registration of the common shares
with the NASDAQ Exchange under the symbol ‘STRB’.

No new cash is provided to StarBand as an immediate result of the Offering

StarBand is not issuing any new shares under the Offering, therefore the offering is
infallible; it is simply a matter of agreement among a short list of existing investors.

The accounting effect of the Offering is to reduce $142,870,466 worth of Preferred
Stock on the balance sheet to zero and increase Common Stock by a like amount with
the consequent impact on stockholders’ equity:

Agctual Pro forma
Aug 31, 2000 Aug. 31, 2060
Total stockholders” (deficit) equity (76,770,013) 66,100,453

Due to shareholder agreernénts including a 180-day lockup, there will be few if any
shares available immediately following the Offering for trade on the public exchange.

FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION FCC2A000000409
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